# LEARNING CURVES IN MINIMALLY INVASIVE THORACIC SURGERY.

by

# PETER RAFIK RAMZY ABDEL MALIK, BHSc

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Peter Malik, June 2021

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge many individuals for their kind support, mentorship, and assistance over the last two years of my graduate studies.

I would like to thank the Boris Family Centre for Robotic Surgery and the Centre for Minimal Access Surgery for supporting me during my studies and providing an opportunity for me to engage in open inquiry. I am also grateful for the many patients who donated their time and trust—to the scientific process and permitting this work. I am indebted to Dr. Hanna for his supervision over the last 5 years. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Farrokhyar, Dr. Simunovic, and Dr. Agzarian for their time and guidance overseeing this project.

I was fortunate to work with many talented students (Ms. Kerrie Sullivan, Ms. Isabella Churchill, Mr. Jacob Alaichi, and Ms. Nikkita Mistry) who assisted with patient recruitment, data collection, and maintenance of the research database.

I would also like to express my appreciation to the many mentors who have taken an interest in supporting my academic and intellectual pursuits over the years. To my professors, work supervisors, and colleagues who have challenged me, and to the invaluable relationships that have instilled in me the confidence to surmount any obstacle, I am very grateful!

My friends and family have played a pivotal role leading to the culmination of this work, for whom I share the utmost gratitude. To Jeremy, Angelo, Callum, Yousif, Marta, and many others, thank you for your companionship, and for making graduate school memorable. I am indebted to my family, Rafik & Magda, Rana & Mark, Maria, and Ezra for their unconditional love and support. The kindness, compassion, and patience you have all shared throughout this process serves as the basis for my own practice as I pursue medicine, and has solidified my understanding of what it means to be a researcher – an unending strive towards truth. Thank you.

Table of Contents	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	2
CHAPTER I	5
SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF LEARNING CURVE METHODS IN MINIMALLY INVASIVE THORACIC SURGERY	5
ABSTRACT	6
INTRODUCTION	7
Minimally Invasive Surgery	7
Minimally Invasive Thoracic Surgery	7
Surgical Learning Curves	8
Issues of Learning Curve Evaluation in Minimally Invasive Thoracic Surgery	10
Study Aims	11
METHODS	12
Search Strategy	12
Study Eligibility	12
Study Selection	14
Data Extraction	14
Dealing with Missing Data	15
Risk of Bias in Individual Studies	15
Synthesis of Results	16
Donabedian Classification	16
RESULTS	17
Search Results	17
Characteristics of included studies	17
Table 1. Characteristics of Included Studies	18
Learning Curve Characterization	19
Learning Curve Methods	19
Table 2. Learning Curve Study Methodology	20
Learning Curve Outcomes	21
Table 3. Outcomes used to evaluate the Learning Curve	21
Figure 1. Outcomes used for Assessing Learning Curves in the Included Studies	22
Figure 2. Distribution of Variable Domains used to Measure the Learning Curve Categorized by the	
Donabedian Model	22
Standards of Reporting	23
Table 4. Graphical Representations of Learning Curves	23
DISCUSSION	24
CONCLUSION	34
REFERENCES	35
APPENDICES	50
Appendix 1. PRISMA Checklist	51
Appendix 2. Medline Search Strategy	53
Appendix 3. Donabedian Model: A Conceptual Framework of Healthcare Quality	54
Appendix 4. PRISMA Flow Diagram	55
Appendix 5. Summary of Included Studies	56
Appendix 6. Number of Learning Curve Studies from 1990-Present	67
Appendix 7. Learning Curve Outcomes Reported Per Study	68

CHAPTER II	70
LEARNING CURVE ANALYSIS OF NEAR-INFRARED FLUORESCENCE GUIDED ROBOT-ASSISTED SEGMENTECTOM	ΛY
WITH INDOCYANINE GREEN DYE USING CUMULATIVE SUM METHODOLOGY	70
ABSTRACT	71
INTRODUCTION	72
Surgery for Non-small Cell Lung Cancer	72
Advances in Segmentectomy Techniques	73
Learning Curves for Major Thoracic Robotic Procedures	74
Study Aims	75
METHODS	77
Ethics	77
Study Design	77
Patient Population	77
Peri-Operative Outcome Measures	78
Segment Complexity	79
Operative Technique	79
Figure 1. Demonstrating extension of margins by ICG mapping: Identification of bronchopulmonary	
segment (dark) and the surrounding healthy tissue (green).	81
Statistical Analysis	81
Cumulative Observed-Expected Failure Chart	81
Segment Complexity and Interphase Comparisons	82
RESULTS	83
Patient Characteristics	83
Figure 2. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials diagram.	83
Learning Curve Analysis	85
Figure 3a. CUSUM <sub>OT</sub> Plot for ICG Segmentectomy	85
Figure 3b. CUSUM <sub>ot</sub> Plot for Non-ICG Segmentectomy	86
Figure 4a. CUSUM <sub>ot</sub> Plots for Complex Cases	87
Figure 4b. CUSUM <sub>OT</sub> Plots for Simple Cases	87
Perioperative Outcomes Compared Among the Learning Phases	88
Segment Complexity	88
DISCUSSION	89
CONCLUSION	94
REFERENCES	95
APPENDICES	102
Appendix 1. Definition of Simple and Complex Segments	103
Appendix 2. Characteristics of Included Participant	104
Appendix 3. Surgical details of included Participants	105
Appendix 4. Interphase Analysis between Learning Phases	106
Appendix 5. Impact of Segment Complexity on Surgical and Peri-operative factors	107

# **CHAPTER I**

# SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF LEARNING CURVE METHODS IN MINIMALLY INVASIVE THORACIC SURGERY

#### ABSTRACT

*Introduction:* As the number of minimally invasive technologies increases in the field of thoracic surgery, so have the number of learning curve analyses performed for these innovations. Variation in learning curve methodology makes between-study comparisons and evidence syntheses difficult. Furthermore, poorly described and reported learning curve analyses make the results difficult to apply to different clinical settings. The objective of this systematic review is to characterize the variability in the methods used to construct and describe learning curves, with the goal of identifying shortcomings and potential areas for improvement in this line of research. *Methods:* A search of Ovid Medline, Ovid Embase, EBSCO CINAHL, and Web of Science was performed. Studies of learning curves of anatomical lung resection operations in adult patients published in the English language were eligible for inclusion. Two reviewers independently assessed studies for eligibility, and extracted relevant data.

*Results:* The search yielded 56 articles eligible for inclusion in the present review. A variety of methods were used to construct the learning curve, with chronological grouping of cases being the most commonly used technique in 22 (39.29%) studies, followed by the cumulative sum method, employed in 21 (37.50%) studies. A total of 15 unique metrics were used for learning curve analyses; operative time was the most common metric, used in 39 (69.64%) studies. A large proportion of studies failed to provide details on learning curve parameters such as competency thresholds, surgeon's prior experience, case complexity, and learning curve definition. Considerable heterogeneity was found in the methods and reporting standards of learning curve evaluations in minimally invasive thoracic surgery.

# Conflicts of Interest: None.

Funding Source: Boris Family Centre for Robotic Surgery.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Minimally Invasive Surgery**

Minimally invasive surgery is a branch of surgery that involves the coordinated use of flexible cameras and mechanical instruments inserted through small incisions made in the thoracic cavity or other organ spaces to perform surgical procedures.<sup>1</sup> Tiny instruments are manipulated by the surgeon and assisting staff based on information that is relayed through a fiberoptic camera and displayed by high-definition monitors that facilitate real-time viewing and navigation of the surgical field.<sup>2</sup> Minimally invasive techniques in thoracic surgery have risen to prominence in recent years, nearly replacing open approaches for many procedures. Minimally invasive thoracic surgery entails two main approaches: video-assisted and robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery.<sup>3</sup> In video-assisted surgery, a thoracoscopic camera and instruments are inserted into 1-2cm intercostal incisions. These instruments are used for a variety of functions such as cauterization, visualization, mobilization, stapling, and cutting to facilitate surgical procedures.<sup>4</sup> Robotic surgery, a more recent minimally invasive innovation, implements similar instrumentation through physician-guided movements that are executed by a robot at the patient's bed-side.<sup>5</sup>

# **Minimally Invasive Thoracic Surgery**

The field of thoracic surgery has seen a rising trend in the number of cases performed through minimally invasive approaches.<sup>5</sup> Well established minimally invasive surgical procedures, such as video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery have demonstrated oncologic safety and efficacy in the field of thoracic surgery. Evidence now lends support to thoracoscopic techniques leading to reduced length of stay,<sup>6</sup> decreased blood loss,<sup>7</sup> improved pain control,<sup>8,9</sup>

and oncologic efficacy,<sup>10</sup> notwithstanding improved cosmesis conferred by smaller "keyhole" incisions. Furthermore, techniques using the robotic surgical platform such as robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery have additional benefits in the context of lung and mediastinal procedures. While obtaining similar outcomes to VATS,<sup>11</sup> robotic procedures provide enhanced threedimensional visibility, namely for mediastinal procedures,<sup>12</sup> improved ergonomics for surgeons, increased lymph node clearance,<sup>13</sup> and increased degrees of freedom of the wrist during operations.<sup>14</sup>

With the increasing penetrance of minimally invasive technologies in the operating room, issues pertaining to skill acquisition and surgeon education become relevant. Despite pronounced advantages, the uptake of minimally invasive surgical procedures and concurrent medical curricula are lagging.<sup>15-17</sup> High operational costs,<sup>18</sup> potentially longer operative times,<sup>19</sup> resource intensive processes associated with trainee mentorship,<sup>20</sup> and a scarcity of robotic surgical devices in medical programmes<sup>21</sup> serve as barriers to adoption of robotic technologies. In addition, many surgeons who prefer VATS or open procedures express reluctance in adopting robotic techniques.<sup>22</sup> Thus, the ability to adopt new and cutting-edge technology may be challenging for minimally invasive thoracic surgeons and medical trainees.

# **Surgical Learning Curves**

The finding that some minimally invasive procedures result in longer operative times is thought to be in large part due to the presence of a learning curve—the period in which surgeons are performing at a suboptimal level due to procedure novelty and relative inexperience in the technique under study.<sup>5,22-24</sup> Thus, physician education and the ability to perform a procedure competently are important considerations when making decisions at the patient, physician, and hospital administrator level. New technologies should strike a balance between potential benefits accrued to patients and providers, as well as a manageable learning curve that does not put patients at undue risk during the skill acquisition period. From a cost-utility perspective, incremental improvements in health status afforded to patients by the acquisition of new technologies reach an asymptote, whereas costs continue to rise, and the need to optimize quality of care becomes paramount.<sup>25</sup> Therefore, the evaluation and reporting of the learning curve in minimally invasive thoracic surgery, when studied accurately and objectively, can provide unique insight into the utility of procedures being considered for adoption.

Learning curves were first described in the aircraft industry, where they were initially used to model the number of man-hours needed to produce a single aircraft unit.<sup>26</sup> Since this time, the learning curve has been translated from measuring changes in industrial processes into a number of other contexts and has since become a practical tool for monitoring healthcare processes.<sup>27</sup> In the field of surgery, the learning curve characterizes the trajectory of learning, or learning-course, of a new procedure over a period of time. Typically, surgeon performance is determined using a surrogate measure, such as a process variable (i.e. operative time), and variations are observed over a consecutive number of cases. The archetypal learning curve includes an initial period of difficulty followed by a period of improvement, after which point surgeon performance experiences little change and reaches a point of stability. It is important to note that reaching a plateau in the learning curve does not necessarily indicate attainment of skill or proficiency, only that the operator demonstrates little to no further improvements.<sup>28</sup> Interest in characterizing the learning curves for different surgical procedures has risen in recent years due to its ability to derive useful information pertaining to surgical quality, patient outcomes, physician credentialing, and associated costs and benefits of surgical procedures.

# Issues of Learning Curve Evaluation in Minimally Invasive Thoracic Surgery

Unfortunately, with the increased study of surgical learning curves came increased heterogeneity in the methodologies used to characterize them. This heterogeneity in learning curve methodology has been well characterized in the surgical literature in areas such as minimally invasive abdominal surgery<sup>29</sup> and robotic surgery.<sup>30</sup> Harrysson et al.<sup>29</sup> and Kassite et al.<sup>30</sup> report substantial heterogeneity in the types of outcomes used in learning curve studies, as well as in the statistical strategies and visual depictions used to construct the learning curves. This variation in methods between individual studies makes it difficult to compare the learning curves of different surgical procedures, which is important for guiding decisions related to physician education and the procurement of new surgical technologies. Furthermore, poor descriptions of learning curve analyses may also limit the interpretability and applicability of results, making it difficult to apply the results to a surgeon's personal practice.

Thoracic surgery is an evolving field in which new skills and procedures are continually required and employed. While a recent systematic review by Power et al.<sup>31</sup> describes the learning curves in studies of major robotic lung and mediastinal resections, the methods used to characterize these learning curves have yet to be explored. Despite this investigation, the previously described heterogeneity precludes the ability to perform between-study comparisons and/or pooling of data to estimate an average learning curve of a given minimally invasive thoracic surgical procedure. Therefore, this systematic review was conducted to determine the methodological quality of the learning curve literature in minimally invasive thoracic surgery.

# **Study Aims**

The objective of this systematic review is to determine how learning curves are assessed in the thoracic surgical literature by collecting data on the outcomes and definitions employed, as well as the resulting learning curves generated for video and robot-assisted thoracic lung resections. Information from this review will help inform the following section of this thesis by identifying current trends in the physician education literature as it pertains to surgical learning curves. Therefore, the primary purpose of this review is to critically assess the study designs used to evaluate learning curves in minimally invasive thoracic surgery, characterize the variables and methods used to measure and analyze these learning curves, as well as how learning curves are portrayed and graphed.

#### METHODS

This systematic review is reported in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.<sup>32</sup> The PRISMA checklist is presented in (<u>Appendix 1</u>). The protocol for this review will be made available upon request. This review is not registered as it did not meet the eligibility criteria for registration in the PROSPERO database.

# **Search Strategy**

The search strategy was designed to comprehensively capture studies assessing learning curves of minimally invasive thoracic surgical procedures involving anatomical lung resection. A literature search was conducted on November 9<sup>th</sup>, 2020, using four electronic databases: Ovid Medline (1946 to November 2021), Ovid Embase (1974 to November 2021), EBSCO CINAHL (1961 to November 2021), and Web of Science (1900 to November 2021). Studies published in the English language were eligible for inclusion in this review. No other restrictions, date or otherwise, were imposed on the database searches. The search strategy was created with the assistance of a health sciences librarian (JP), and is presented in <u>Appendix 2</u> and was informed by terms used to index relevant and recently published studies on the subject of this review. Titles, abstracts, and full-texts of relevant trials were also assessed for pertinent search terms related to the controlled vocabulary and keywords search concepts.

## **Study Eligibility**

Studies of anatomical segmental resection, lobectomy, pneumonectomy, wedge resection, and combinations of various lung resections (removal of multiple segments or lobes e.g.

bilobectomy) in adult patients (aged 18 years or older) were eligible for inclusion. In order to be considered a minimally invasive procedure, the surgical approach must have involved thoracoscopic port insertion via video- or robot-assisted surgery. Studies of other thoracic procedures, including lymphadenectomy, thymectomy or esophagectomy, treatment of spontaneous pneumothorax, as well as routine non-therapeutic surgical procedures, such as exploratory thoracotomy or laparotomy, endoscopy, bronchoscopy, or organ biopsy were considered out-of-scope for the current review and were therefore not included. Studies evaluating the learning curve for cardiac surgical procedures were also ineligible for inclusion. Cardio-thoracic studies that reported on a subset of thoracic surgical patients were included so long as other inclusion criteria were met. Studies were eligible for inclusion regardless of the number of surgeons, or surgeries performed.

To be eligible for inclusion, articles must have addressed the learning curve and formally analyzed it by any kind of graph, table, or statistical technique. Study designs eligible for inclusion were prospective and retrospective cohort studies, case-series, as well as trials with or without a comparator arm. Individual case studies, review articles, letters, and comments were not eligible. In cases where the results of the trial were presented in both abstract and full-text publication form, the full-text publication was preferentially included and used for data extraction. Studies that have been published as a conference abstract with no accompanying fulltext publication were excluded. Studies that were descriptive in nature, or evaluated the learning curve of a simulated procedure, as well as animal model studies were ineligible for inclusion in this review.

#### **Study Selection**

All articles retrieved from the database search were screened for inclusion eligibility. First, two reviewers (PRAM and NM) independently screened a pilot sample of 50 articles for potential relevance based on title and abstracts. This was done to ensure inclusion/exclusion criteria were applied correctly. After consolidating results from the first 50 articles, the two reviewers proceeded to screen the rest of the articles in a similar manner. Those publications identified to be potentially relevant underwent a second round of screening by the same two independent reviewers, who reviewed the full text of these articles to ensure all inclusion criteria were met. Both rounds of screening ended with a meeting between the two reviewers to consolidate inclusion/exclusion decisions. Disagreements were resolved through discussion and arbitrated by the senior author (WCH) if consensus was not reached.

#### **Data Extraction**

The main focus of this review was to collect information regarding the learning curve, how it was defined, and assessed in the methods section of the studies captured from the search strategy. A data extraction form was designed *a priori*, and the following information about each included study was extracted, in duplicate: study population, study design, study intervention, learning curve parameters and learning curve results. Information on the following learning curve parameters was collected: [1] Learning curve outcomes used (and explicit use of definitions), [2] inclusion and description of surgeon's previous experience, [3] inclusion and description of a pre-defined competency threshold, [4] control for confounding, [5] number of cases required to overcome the learning curve, [6] and visual depiction of the learning curve. These parameters have previously been found to be inconsistently, or under-reported in similar systematic reviews in other surgical specialties.<sup>28</sup> For studies that included a CUSUM analysis, information on the type of CUSUM chart used, details regarding the parameters used to construct the chart, case-mix adjustment, and interpretation of graphs to the reader, was also collected. Other information regarding the learning curve, such as the number of phases of the curve, and whether the learning curve was overcome, was also collected.

Data were extracted independently, in duplicate by two reviewers (PRAM and NM), and results were consolidated. Since the primary focus of this review was to describe the way that the learning curve has been reported in the literature, no quality assessment of the included articles was performed. Data was stored in an electronic data collection form (Microsoft Excel 365, 2021, Redmond, WA, USA).

# **Dealing with Missing Data**

Data abstraction from full-text articles was completed for all included studies. In the case that data was not made available in the full-text, an attempt was made to retrieve missing data by contacting corresponding authors with request for further information (i.e. unpublished results).

#### **Risk of Bias in Individual Studies**

Since this review is concerned with the methods used to assess the learning curve, rather than the results obtained from the learning curve analyses, risk of bias was not assessed.

# **Synthesis of Results**

We performed descriptive statistics to summarize the information collected from the included studies. Learning curve outcomes were classified according to the Donabedian Quality of Care model. Outcomes that overlapped multiple domains, or that combined multiple outcomes into a single measure (i.e. surgical failure), were classified as "composite" outcomes. Due to the nature of this review, and in line with the purpose of characterizing the methods used to study surgical learning curves in thoracic surgery, a meta-analysis was not performed. All statistical analyses were performed using IBM<sup>®</sup> SPSS<sup>®</sup> Statistics software (version 21.0) and all graphs were generated using SPSS<sup>®</sup> and Tableau Desktop (version 2021.1) on mac.

# **Donabedian Classification**

The Donabedian Quality of Care model, originally described by Dr. Avedis Donabedian in 1966 is a conceptual framework used to measure quality of care in healthcare settings.<sup>33</sup> The model, depicted as a target, places the performance of physicians and other related healthcare practitioners as the "bull's-eye", with different factors, such as setting, patient adherence, and level of familial/community support, influencing the quality of healthcare, encircling the target (<u>Appendix 3</u>). These integrative elements of quality assessment are further characterized into three disparate yet connected domains: "structure", "process", and "outcome".<sup>25</sup> Structure refers to capital, both human and material, as well as the organizational setting in which care is sought. Process refers to the provision of healthcare and the processes involved in diagnoses and treatment. Outcome refers to any change in health status of patients and populations by the way of effective care. The Donabedian framework has been widely implemented and validated in a number of healthcare contexts, including cardiac,<sup>34</sup> emergency,<sup>35</sup> and rectal surgery.<sup>36</sup>

#### RESULTS

# **Search Results**

The electronic database search yielded a total of 1614 articles. After the title/abstract and full-text review screening phases, 56 articles remained eligible for inclusion in the present systematic review<sup>37-92</sup>. The PRISMA flow chart is presented in <u>Appendix 4</u>.

# **Characteristics of included studies**

Characteristics of the included studies are presented in <u>Table 1</u> and <u>Appendix 5</u>. The final sample of included articles consisted of 50 retrospective and prospective cohort studies and 6 consecutive case-series. The included studies were published between the years 1993-2020, however the vast majority of studies (39/56; 69.64%) were published from 2016 onward (<u>Table 1</u> and <u>Appendix 6</u>). Learning curve studies in thoracic minimally invasive surgery were mostly performed in Asia (23/56; 41.07%), followed by Europe (16/56; 28.57), and North America (12/56; 21.43%). Video-assisted surgery was the most common surgical approach, used in over half (38/56; 67.86%) of the included studies, followed by robot-assisted surgery in 17 (30.36%) of the studies. Only one study (1.79%) evaluated the learning curve of both video- and robot-assisted thoracic surgery. Lobectomies were the most commonly performed surgeries, followed by segmentectomy, in 37 (66.07%) and 8 (14.29%) of included studies, respectively.

Table 1. Characteristics of Included Studies			
N=56 studies, unless otherwise stated	Total		
Sample Size Number of participants per study, n (%)			
1-50 patients	4 (7.14)		
50-100 patients	15 (26.79)		
100-250 patients	21 (37.50)		
>250 patients	16 (28.57)		
Study Information			
Total patients included, n	41,060		
Year of publication, median (25-75%)	2017 (2011-2020)		
Study Location, (%)			
Asia	23 (41.07)		
Europe	16 (28.57)		
North America	12(21.43)		
South America	2(5.57) 2(5.26)		
Multiple	5 (5.50)		
Surgeons Number of surgeon(s) per study, n (%)			
1	28 (50.00)		
1-5	11 (19.64)		
≥5	4 (7.14)		
Non-Specified	13 (23.21)		
Previous Training Reported, n (%) Type of previous training, n (%); N=38	38 (67.86)		
	17 (44 74)		
Video-Assisted	1/(44./4) 4(10.52)		
Open Miyed	4(10.33) 12(31.58)		
Technique not specified	5 (12.10)		
reeninque not speemed	5 (13.16)		
<u>Surgery</u> Approach, n (%)			
Robot-Assisted	17 (30 36)		
Video-Assisted	27 (48.21)		
Uniportal Video-Assisted	11 (19.64)		
Robot/Video-Assisted	1 (1.79)		
Type of operation, n (%)			
Lobectomy/Bilobectomy	37 (66.07)		
Segmentectomy/Subsegmentectomy	8 (14.29)		
Multiple/Pneumonectomy	11 (19.64)		

## Learning Curve Characterization

#### Learning Curve Methods

Complete results of the methods used to characterize the learning curve are provided in Table 2. The most common method used to construct the learning curve was chronological grouping of cases (split-group analysis), which was performed in 22 (39.29%) studies. This approach involves dividing consecutive surgical cases into two or more groups (i.e. early and late phase, tertiles, etc.), and comparing outcomes between these groupings. The cumulative sum (CUSUM) method was the second most commonly used approach, used in 21 (37.50%) studies. A total of 6 (10.71%) studies reported using methods to control for confounding variables, including imputation, stratification, and risk-adjustment through logistic regression modelling.

Competency thresholds were reported in 35 (62.5%) studies and were most commonly used in CUSUM learning curve evaluations. The most frequent method to construct competency thresholds was through the identification of the inflection point or plateau on the CUSUM curve (21/35; 60.00%). Control limits and using a pre-defined number of cases were each used in 6/35; (17.14%) of studies that included a competency threshold. Significant improvement in measured outcomes was used as competency threshold in the remaining 2/35 (5.7%) studies.

While 21 (37.50%) studies exclusively used chronological grouping as the method to construct the learning curve, an additional 24 (42.86%) studies used a combination of chronological grouping and another statistical technique to evaluate the learning curve. For example, many studies (16/56, 28.57%) used the CUSUM method to construct the learning curve, and then divided the curve into phases to compare outcomes between the different phases in the learning process. In these cases, the different phases of the learning curve were identified using one of the aforementioned competency threshold techniques. The median number of

learning curve phases was 2 (Interquartile Range (IQR), 2-3). Of these 45 studies, 43 (95.56%) used some form of parametric or non-parametric statistical test to assess differences between these groupings. <u>Table 2</u> summarizes the number of divisions used in chronological groupings of the learning curves by frequency.

Table 2. Learning Curve Study Methodology			
N=56 studies, unless otherwise stated			
Study Methodology	Total		
Learning curve method, n (%)			
Chronological Grouping only	22 (39.29)		
CUSUM + Chronological Grouping	16 (28.57)		
Regression	7 (12.50)		
CUSUM only	5 (8.93)		
Weighted Average	2 (3.57)		
Other	4 (7.14)		
Competency Threshold Type, n (%); N=35			
Plateau/Inflection Point	21 (60.00)		
Control Limit	6 (17.14)		
Pre-defined Number of Cases	6 (17.14)		
Significant Improvement in Outcome	2 (5.71)		
Graphical Representation, n (%); N=46			
Line/Bar/Scatter/Box plot	16 (34.78)		
CUSUM curve	16 (34.78)		
Regression	4 (8.70)		
Kaplan-Meier Curve	3 (6.52)		
Receiver-Operating Curve	1 (2.17)		
Multiple	6 (13.04)		
Control for Confounding, n (%); N=6			
Risk-adjusted model	4 (66.70)		
Stratification	1 (16.70)		
Imputation	1 (16.70)		
Split-group Analysis			
Number of studies split into phases, n (%)	45 (80.36)		
Number of phases, n (%); N=45			
2 phases	24 (53.33)		
3 phases	14 (31.11)		
4 phases	5 (11.11)		
5 phases	2 (4.44)		

Abbreviations: CUSUM, cumulative sum.

# Learning Curve Outcomes

Across the 56 included studies, a total of 15 unique outcomes were used for the learning curve analyses. The median number of learning curve outcomes used in the included studies was 1 (IQR, 1-2) (Appendix 7). The most commonly used learning curve outcome was operative time, which was used in 39 (69.64%) of the included studies. The remaining outcomes were much less frequently reported, each appearing in <10 studies. Six (10.71%) studies reported at least one composite outcome, comprised of two or more individual endpoints combined into a single outcome. The frequency of different parameters and variable domain as classified according to the Donabedian model is presented in <u>Tables 3</u>, Figure 1, and Figure 2. Process outcomes, such as operative time and conversions, were the most common type of variable domain reported in the included articles, appearing in 21 (37.50%) studies. Of note, there were no studies that included a parameter from the "structure" domain of the Donabedian model. In 12 (21.43%) studies, a primary outcome for the learning curve analysis was not specified. Of the 44 (78.57%) studies reporting a learning curve parameter, only 18 (32.14%) explicitly defined the variable used for analyzing the learning curve.

Table 3. Outcomes used to evaluate the Learning Curve		
N=56 studies, unless otherwise specified		
Outcome Reporting	Total	
Outcome Frequency, n (%)		
1 outcome	19 (33.93)	
2 outcomes	13 (23.21)	
$\geq$ 3 outcomes	12 (21.43)	
Not Specified	12 (21.43)	
Composite outcome, n (%)	6.0 (10.71)	
Outcome Type, n (%)		
Structure	0 (0.00)	
Process	21 (37.50)	
Clinical Outcome	3 (5.36)	
Process and Clinical Outcome	20 (35.71)	
Unspecified	12 (21.43)	









#### **Donabedian Model**

# **Standards of Reporting**

Amongst the 56 studies included in this review, the learning curve was reported to be overcome by 46 (82.14%) of the included studies, despite only 35 studies (62.5%) setting a predefined threshold to signify when the surgeon reached competency, with approximately one-third (12/35, 34.28%) of studies providing some form of justification for the chosen threshold value. A definition of what constituted the learning curve was provided for 33 (58.93%) studies. The majority of studies (38/56, 67.86%) provided some description of the surgeon's prior training and experience. A description of the patient case-mix was also provided in most studies (50/56, 89.29%), however only 7 studies (12.50%) included a gradation of case complexity.

Across the included studies, 10 unique methods were used to graphically represent the learning curve. A CUSUM graph was the most commonly used graphical depiction in 19 (33.93%) studies, followed by a scatter plot, used in 17 (30.36%) studies. Ten (17.86%) studies provided only a tabular or textual description of the learning curve without any visual depiction. Table 4 summarizes the various types of graphs used to visually depict the learning curve, and the frequency with which they are used in the included studies.

Table 4. Graphical Representations of Learning Curves		
Graphical Representation	Number of Studies <sup>*</sup>	
CUSUM	19	
Scatter Plot	17	
Regression	5	
Kaplan-Meir Curve	3	
Line Graph	2	
Bar chart	1	
Box-Plot	1	
Cubic Spline	1	
Receiver Operating Curve	1	
LOWESS (time-series analysis)	2	

\*Some studies presented more than one graphical representation of the learning curve. 10 studies provided only a tabular or textual description of the learning curve. CUSUM, cumulative sum; LOWESS, locally weighted scatter plot smoothing.

#### DISCUSSION

This review identifies substantial heterogeneity in the metrics, methods, and standards of reporting across 56 studies that assessed the learning curve in minimally invasive thoracic surgery. In addition, our review indicates variation in the definitions and endpoints used to assess the learning curve. Heterogeneity outlined in this review highlights the ongoing challenge of limited interpretability of the increasing number of learning curve studies published in the minimally invasive thoracic surgical literature, a trend that has been paralleled in other surgical disciplines.<sup>28,93</sup>

One of the most striking findings from this review is the variability in the way learning curves are constructed, defined, and evaluated. The majority of studies comprising this review used either chronological grouping (22/56; 39.29%), a variation of the cumulative sum method (5/56; 8.93%), or a combination of these two learning curve methods (16/56; 28.57%) to construct and evaluate the learning curve. CUSUM is a quality control charting method used to measure cumulative deviations of observations from a pre-specified value (often based on the mean value of the dataset or a historical standard) and is sensitive to sustained degradation of surgical processes.<sup>8</sup> Initially used for maintaining quality control over industrial processes,<sup>94</sup> CUSUM methodology has been adopted by clinicians to study the surgical learning curve in many disciplines, namely cardiothoracic procedures.<sup>95,96</sup> Researchers have taken many different approaches to summarizing and describing CUSUM methodologies.<sup>97-99</sup> Despite these efforts, there remains much debate and contention regarding the optimal use of CUSUM.<sup>100</sup> Appropriate use of control limits,<sup>101</sup> inclusion of adjustments for case-mix and complexity,<sup>95</sup> and prospective versus retrospective application of process monitoring,<sup>102</sup> are all areas of active CUSUM methods research.

Competency thresholds, (often referred to as control or decision limits in quality control chart methodology) are important components of chart construction and represent pre-defined limits of performance used to monitor whether a process is "in" or "out" of control.<sup>103</sup> When a threshold boundary is crossed in a learning curve analysis, sufficient progress has accumulated to signal that competency has been reached. In the present review, over half of studies (35/56; 62.50%) included a competency threshold used to measure the learning curve, however, there was a lack of consistency in the way thresholds were determined amongst those that had reported one. There exists considerable debate in the literature for the best way to construct these limits, and methods are dependent on the type of control chart monitoring applied.<sup>97</sup> Many studies (21/35; 60.00%) characterized the learning curve by when a surgeon reaches a plateau in performance<sup>43,48,52,55,56,60,61,67,70,73,74,79,80,83,86,90</sup> or when a point of inflection is reached in the curve.<sup>40,44,59,69,75</sup> While this approach indicates a point at which competence remains stable, it does not necessarily indicate that the learning curve has been overcome. In addition, the number of cases before plateau may differ from one surgeon to the next, and depending on the outcomes used to measure the learning curve, this may be a poor indicator of overall surgical quality. For example, multiple studies identified inflection points in the learning curve without corresponding improvements in clinical outcomes.<sup>40,56</sup> Furthermore, the identification of a plateau can be subjective and is often identified using crude methods such as visual fit alone. Indeed, unless the sample size is sufficiently large, a plateau in the learning curve may never be reached. Other methods involve using reference values from the literature, the average value of the dataset, or the number of procedures to achieve a threshold set by experienced surgeons. Not only do these methods require familiarity with quality control monitoring techniques, which may not be immediately available to clinicians or administrators who would benefit from the information

from these types of studies, but implementing learning curve thresholds in any of these ways may also lead to oversimplification or overinterpretation of the learning curve, thus contributing to the difficulty of evaluating learning curve data. Woodall et al. have critiqued the use of CUSUMs that accumulate successive differences between the performance metric values and their average, since they are invariant to the addition of a constant to the time series values.<sup>102</sup> For example, a CUSUM curve measuring operative time with the following series data 175, 145, 165, 135 when compared with another data series 195, 165, 185, 155 would be represented by identically shaped curves, despite differing levels of performance. Therefore, expert consultation is required in the interpretation of the learning curve data when interpreted in this way.

Furthermore, many studies concluded that the learning curve was overcome, despite lacking a defined competency threshold,<sup>68,72,85,87</sup> and in select instances, without defining what the learning curve represented.<sup>39,46,62,63,65,76,78,82,84</sup> In contrast, many studies failed to explicitly state whether the learning curve had or had not been overcome,<sup>41,49,51,54,58,64,81</sup> even when a competency threshold had been defined by study authors.<sup>50,60,92</sup> Competency thresholds that are defined *a-priori* should be constructed with self-contained rationale provided by study investigators in order to allow for easier interpretation. For example, competency thresholds may reference an expert derived proficiency level, or based on decision limits that represent clinically significant deviations in performance cited in the pertinent literature. The strength of the provided justification should always be considered when interpreting the results of any learning curve evaluation.

Outcome selection is another challenge in the learning curve literature. One of the main drives for outcome selection in learning curve methodology is to provide a proxy of health care quality. Traditional CUSUM methods rely on binary outcome data use, however, contemporary

CUSUM approaches that use continuous time-based metrics have populated the surgical learning curve literature, refreshing the discussion of optimal outcome selection in these analyses. In this review, operative time was the most commonly reported outcome when assessing the learning curve (39/56; 69.64%), as is seen in systematic reviews conducted in other surgical contexts.<sup>104</sup> Reliance on the use of process outcomes such as operative time or conversion rate, suggests an underuse of the structure and outcome domains as outlined by the Donabedian model when monitoring and evaluating the surgical learning curve. In the present review, 41 studies (73.21%) reported at least one variable from the process domain, while just 23 studies (41.07%) reported a variable from the outcome domain, and none reported a variable from the structure domain. The frequency with which time-based variables are used in the learning curve literature is an interesting observation that warrants further exploration. Operative data is routinely collected, and its availability makes it a convenient target for primary outcome selection in learning curve studies. However, expediency alone does not ensure clinically relevant measures of learning.<sup>105</sup> Factors such as patient volume, case-mix and complexity, non-technical skills and team expertise are additional elements that impact the patient experience and are not adequately captured in the unidimensional analysis of operative time.<sup>106</sup> Though it may provide useful information regarding a single surgeon/operator, in isolation of other factors, it is not an appropriate surrogate of overall surgical quality. On the contrary, outcomes such as operative mortality may not be relevant for the evaluation of low-risk procedures. Therefore, in selecting an outcome variable for the learning curve analysis, a multi-variable approach incorporating patient-important outcomes tailored to the operation under study should be considered when planning learning curve investigations or surgical procedures. The Donabedian model (Appendix 3) provides a

useful conceptualization of outcomes under "process", "structure", and "outcome" domains, which can be used when planning learning curve analyses.

This review reveals a broad range of variables used to measure the learning curve; a total of 15 unique outcomes were used. Variation exists not only in the variables selected to define the learning curve, but in the definition of those variables as well. Many studies failed to explicitly define the outcome under study. For example, many studies that used time-based metrics did not provide a definition for the parameters that constituted the duration of surgery, or did not distinguish between console, docking, or total operative time.<sup>42,43,45,46,54,56,59,61,62,64,67,69,72,78,80,83,87</sup> Use of explicit definitions becomes relevant when comparing learning curves between studies or when trying to contextualize the results to inform health related decision making. For example, Song et al. demonstrated differences in the learning curve for robot-assisted lobectomy depending on which of the aforementioned time-based parameters were implemented.<sup>79</sup> The use of composite outcomes in this review also highlights the difficulty of incorporating complex binary patient outcome variables when studying the learning curve. Surgical failure was included as a binary outcome to measure the learning curve in multiple studies in this review, though its definition was also variable.<sup>44,89,90</sup> In one study, surgical failure involved major perioperative morbidity and mortality, excessive blood loss, and extended duration of surgery greater than two standard deviations above departmental average,<sup>89</sup> however, in another study, only conversions, complications, and hospital readmissions constituted surgical failure.<sup>90</sup> Despite studying the same surgical technique and approach, these discrepancies again highlight challenges in the ability to compare learning curves.

This study also highlights deficiencies in learning curve standards of reporting. A large proportion of studies included in this review failed to report on important study characteristics

for appropriate learning curve characterization, such as previous surgeon experience, identification and definition of primary outcome used for learning curve analysis, or justification for the use of a certain competency threshold. Taken together, greater detail and more transparent reporting of study characteristics in the thoracic surgical learning curve literature will allow for study results to be generalizable and reproducible.

In recent years, there has been an increase in the uptake of minimally invasive techniques in the field of thoracic surgery.<sup>5</sup> The increasing popularity of minimally invasive techniques can be attributed to their improved safety, less pain, and shorter hospital stays compared to the conventional open approaches, particularly in the context of complex cases.<sup>3</sup> As minimally invasive technologies continue to evolve, it is to be expected that in the coming years, more studies evaluating the learning curve of these procedures will be published. Indeed, this trend has already been observed in the present review (<u>Appendix 6</u>). With likely increases in time, effort, and resources that will be poured into conducting this type of research, it becomes imperative for the research community to standardize and optimize learning curve methodology in order to ensure these future learning curve studies are methodologically sound, and can be meaningfully used to guide decision-making by clinicians, administrators, and medical educators. The present review demonstrates a need for reporting guidelines to help ensure learning curves are well described and characterized, which will in turn improve the interpretability and application of results to other clinical contexts.

Kassite et al. echo similar suggestions in their review of learning curve studies in robotassisted surgery, where they document significant range and heterogeneity across multiple surgical specialties.<sup>107</sup> They put forth recommendations for standardizing learning curve methodology by including the following components:

- A direct indicator of success relevant to the procedure (oncological outcome for cancer surgery, functional outcomes for reconstructive surgery...);
- 2. AND a direct indicator of complications;
- 3. AND operative time (console time or specific procedural time).

The authors emphasize the use of CUSUM analysis, explicit definitions, and inclusion of controlling for as many confounders as possible. The author of the present review recommends the use of CUSUM quality control chart monitoring, with control limit implements based on acceptable and unacceptable performance values based on the available literature, wherever feasible. The construction of CUSUM curves with appropriate control limits have been outlined in a practical description by Rogers et al.<sup>97</sup> The present author also recommends operative time as a routinely collected measure of procedure efficiency, in conjunction with additional learning curve metrics of interest for the procedure under study. For example, operative time, in addition to resection margin status, may be outcomes of interest when studying sublobar resections in minimally invasive thoracic surgery. Subsequently, generated learning curves can be overlayed to analyze observable trends or deviations in performance. These recommendations are put forward in attempt to streamline the process of evaluation and interpretation of learning curves.

With the observed increase in surgical technologies and studies of their learning curves in recent years, it also becomes important to consider the unique ethical and legal ramifications of innovations in surgical practice. Operative outcomes and surgical quality of care provided cannot come at the expense of innovation. In the case of minimally invasive surgeries, procedure novelty can lead to several issues including increased potential for adverse outcomes, which may

erode patient trust in their surgeon, create difficulty in fully disclosing procedure risks, and lead to inaccurate evaluation of patient outcomes due to lack of familiarity with the procedure.<sup>108,109</sup> Furthermore, unlike in resident training, where the procedures are well-understood and the attending physician and surgical team are able to assist, when dealing with novel procedures the surgeon and the surgical team have limited experience with the technique as well as the possible consequences, which strains the learning process.<sup>110</sup>

In order to ethically manage the issues arising from the surgical learning curve, it becomes imperative that the surgeon and surgical team uphold their moral obligation to prepare both technically and professionally. Technical preparation involves ensuring that one has the technical competency required to perform the novel procedure. This can be achieved through simulation exercises on cadavers or computers, which have also been the subject of learning curve studies,<sup>111,112</sup> shadowing experts and seeking their guidance, and sharing one's experiences and lessons learned with colleagues in the field.<sup>110</sup> The field of minimally invasive surgery has introduced new methods of training that minimizes the risks to patients. One of the most notable advantages is the ability to review surgical performances through intracorporal video feed and through dedicated simulation systems that are designed to mimic the operative experience. Compared to training in the operating room, video-based assessments do not require direct observation of performance, thus decreasing operating room pressures while allowing for blinded, unbiased assessment.<sup>113</sup> Additionally, video-based assessments can be paired with objective and validated rating scales, such as the thoracic competency assessment tool – anatomic resection for lung cancer (TCAR-ARC),<sup>114</sup> the global assessment tool for evaluation of intraoperative laparoscopic skills (GOALS)<sup>115</sup> or the global evaluative assessment of robotic skills (GEARS) to provide formative evaluations during attainment of surgical proficiency of a

new procedure.<sup>116</sup> With the decrease in opportunities for real-time feedback in the operating room, and a renewed interest in patient safety initiatives, video-based assessment provides a safe and effective avenue to provide summative feedback for trainees or surgeons along the learning curve of a new procedure. The advent of minimally invasive technologies has also paved the way for telementorship initiatives that enables remote teaching without the burden of excessive travel or taking time off work to mentor.<sup>117</sup> In addition to becoming technically proficient during the adoption of a new procedure, surgeons should also prepare professionally by acting with integrity towards their patients and themselves.<sup>110</sup> This involves practices such as being transparent with patients about one's relative lack of experience, and evaluating and reflecting on one's experiences and outcomes with the procedure in question.<sup>110</sup>

To the author's knowledge, the present study is the first to characterize the methodologies and reporting standards of learning curve studies in minimally invasive thoracic surgery, being the first to characterize the methods used in the learning curves of both video- and robot- assisted procedures in the thoracic surgical specialty. As such, this review provides a comprehensive summary of the key strengths and shortcomings relevant to the study of learning curves in minimally invasive thoracic surgery, and serves as a starting point for future discussions on how best to optimize future research in this field to make it both methodologically sound, and relevant and useful to its end-users.

The present review has a few limitations. First, the full complement of learning curve studies in thoracic surgery is not captured in this review as conference abstracts were ineligible for inclusion. However, the decision to exclude conference abstracts from the present review was prompted by the severely limited information contained within an abstract, which would not allow for a fair appraisal of the methodology and reporting quality of the study. The results of

this review may also be subject to publication bias resulting from unpublished work. To mitigate this problem, additional hand searches of the published literature were performed to identify other relevant studies. Field experts were not contacted to help identify other potential learning curve studies/research or unpublished data. Furthermore, a quality assessment of the studies was not performed since the purpose of this review was to characterize learning curve methodology, rather than to assess the reliability of the study results. However, such an assessment may have provided additional insight into the methodological quality of the included studies. Finally, a meta-analysis of individual study results was not performed as the included studies assessed a diverse range of surgical procedures that cannot simply be pooled and reduced into a single group without further standardization in the learning curve methodologies presented.

#### CONCLUSION

This systematic review explored the problem of heterogeneity in learning curve study methodology, which may preclude the pooling of results from individual studies into metaanalyses used to inform clinical practice. Variation in study methods makes comparisons of the learning curves between and within different surgical procedures difficult, and fails to optimize the full potential of learning curve analyses. Furthermore, poor descriptions of learning curve analyses may limit the interpretability and applicability of results. For example, if the predefined competency level is not defined in a study, or is set arbitrarily higher or lower than average, study results may not be useful to the average surgeon, who may find the results difficult to interpret and apply in his own clinical context. The increasing rate of minimally invasive surgeries suggests that the prevalence of learning curve studies will only see an increase in the future. Therefore, further development and investigation in the uptake of set reporting standards in learning curve methodology will allow for information generated from these studies to be used to inform medical curricula, physician education, and quality control monitoring processes.

#### REFERENCES

- National Cancer Institute. NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms: Minimally Invasive Surgery.
  2021.
- Chang J, Rattner DW. History of Minimally Invasive Surgical Oncology. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2019;28(1):1-9.
- Cheng X, Onaitis MW, D'Amico T A, Chen H. Minimally Invasive Thoracic Surgery 3.0: Lessons Learned From the History of Lung Cancer Surgery. *Ann Surg.* 2018;267(1):37-38.
- 4. McFadden PM. Minimally invasive thoracic surgery. *Ochsner J.* 2000;2(3):137-144.
- Mazzei M, Abbas AE. Why comprehensive adoption of robotic assisted thoracic surgery is ideal for both simple and complex lung resections. *Journal of thoracic disease*. 2020;12(2):70-81.
- Bendixen M, Kronborg C, Jorgensen OD, Andersen C, Licht PB. Cost-utility analysis of minimally invasive surgery for lung cancer: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2019;56(4):754-761.
- Ghaly G, Kamel M, Nasar A, et al. Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Surgery Is a Safe and Effective Alternative to Thoracotomy for Anatomical Segmentectomy in Patients With Clinical Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2016;101(2):465-472; discussion 472.
- Bendixen M, Jorgensen OD, Kronborg C, Andersen C, Licht PB. Postoperative pain and quality of life after lobectomy via video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery or anterolateral thoracotomy for early stage lung cancer: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2016;17(6):836-844.

- 9. Zeltsman M, Dozier J, Vaghjiani RG, et al. Decreasing use of epidural analgesia with increasing minimally invasive lobectomy: Impact on postoperative morbidity. *Lung Cancer*. 2020;139:68-72.
- Demmy TL, Yendamuri S, D'Amico TA, Burfeind WR. Oncologic Equivalence of Minimally Invasive Lobectomy: The Scientific and Practical Arguments. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2018;106(2):609-617.
- Rinieri P, Peillon C, Salaun M, Mahieu J, Bubenheim M, Baste JM. Perioperative outcomes of video- and robot-assisted segmentectomies. *Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann*. 2016;24(2):145-151.
- 12. Wei B, D'Amico TA. Thoracoscopic versus robotic approaches: advantages and disadvantages. *Thorac Surg Clin.* 2014;24(2):177-188, vi.
- Lee EC, Lazzaro RS, Glassman LR, et al. Switching from Thoracoscopic to Robotic Platform for Lobectomy: Report of Learning Curve and Outcome. *Innovations* (*Philadelphia, Pa*). 2020;15(3):235-242.
- 14. Spinoglio G. Robotic surgery: current applications and new trends. Springer; 2015.
- Blasberg JD, Seder CW, Leverson G, Shan Y, Maloney JD, Macke RA. Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy for Lung Cancer: Current Practice Patterns and Predictors of Adoption. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2016;102(6):1854-1862.
- Abdelsattar ZM, Allen MS, Shen KR, et al. Variation in Hospital Adoption Rates of Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy for Lung Cancer and the Effect on Outcomes. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2017;103(2):454-460.
- 17. Edwards J, Kelly E, Schieman C, Gelfand G, Grondin SC. Do new thoracic surgeons feel ready to operate? Self-reported comfort level of thoracic surgery trainees and junior
thoracic surgeons with core thoracic surgery procedures. *J Surg Educ*. 2011;68(4):270-281.

- Swanson SJ, Miller DL, McKenna RJ, Jr., et al. Comparing robot-assisted thoracic surgical lobectomy with conventional video-assisted thoracic surgical lobectomy and wedge resection: results from a multihospital database (Premier). *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2014;147(3):929-937.
- 19. Turchetti G, Palla I, Pierotti F, Cuschieri A. Economic evaluation of da Vinci-assisted robotic surgery: a systematic review. *Surg Endosc.* 2012;26(3):598-606.
- Rekman JF, Alseidi A. Training for Minimally Invasive Cancer Surgery. Surg Oncol Clin NAm. 2019;28(1):11-30.
- Raad WN, Ayub A, Huang CY, Guntman L, Rehmani SS, Bhora FY. Robotic Thoracic Surgery Training for Residency Programs: A Position Paper for an Educational Curriculum. *Innovations (Philadelphia, Pa)*. 2018;13(6):417-422.
- Kaur MN, Xie F, Shiwcharan A, et al. Robotic Versus Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lung Resection During Early Program Development. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2018;105(4):1050-1057.
- McKenna RJ, Jr. Complications and learning curves for video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy. *Thorac Surg Clin.* 2008;18(3):275-280.
- Yao F, Wang J, Yao J, Hang F, Cao S, Cao Y. Video-Assisted Thoracic Surgical Lobectomy for Lung Cancer: Description of a Learning Curve. *J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A*. 2017;27(7):696-703.
- 25. Donabedian A. The quality of care. How can it be assessed? *JAMA*. 1988;260(12):1743-1748.

- Wright TP. Factors affecting the cost of airplanes. *Journal of the aeronautical sciences*.
  1936;3(4):122-128.
- 27. Chaput de Saintonge DM, Vere DW. Why don't doctors use cusums? *Lancet*.1974;1(7848):120-121.
- 28. Khan N, Abboudi H, Khan MS, Dasgupta P, Ahmed K. Measuring the surgical 'learning curve': methods, variables and competency. *BJU Int.* 2014;113(3):504-508.
- Harrysson IJ, Cook J, Sirimanna P, Feldman LS, Darzi A, Aggarwal R. Systematic review of learning curves for minimally invasive abdominal surgery: a review of the methodology of data collection, depiction of outcomes, and statistical analysis. *Ann Surg.* 2014;260(1):37-45.
- 30. Kassite I, Bejan-Angoulvant T, Lardy H, Binet A. A systematic review of the learning curve in robotic surgery: range and heterogeneity. *Surg Endosc.* 2019;33(2):353-365.
- Power AD, D'Souza DM, Moffatt-Bruce SD, Merritt RE, Kneuertz PJ. Defining the learning curve of robotic thoracic surgery: what does it take? *Surg Endosc*. 2019;33(12):3880-3888.
- 32. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. 2021;372:n71.
- 33. Donabedian A. Evaluating the quality of medical care. 1966. *Milbank Q.* 2005;83(4):691729.
- 34. Brown JM, Hajjar-Nejad MJ, Dominique G, et al. A Failed Cardiac Surgery Program in an Underserved Minority Population County Reimagined: The Power of Partnership. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9(23):e018230.

- 35. Santry HP, Strassels SA, Ingraham AM, et al. Identifying the fundamental structures and processes of care contributing to emergency general surgery quality using a mixedmethods Donabedian approach. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2020;20(1):247.
- Xu Z, Fleming FJ. Quality Assurance, Metrics, and Improving Standards in Rectal Cancer Surgery in the United States. *Front Oncol.* 2020;10:655.
- 37. Abdellateef A, Ma X, Qiao W, et al. Subxiphoid uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic pulmonary segmentectomy: Effect of learning curve and future perspectives. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. 2020;58:I50-I57.
- Amore D, Di Natale D, Scaramuzzi R, Curcio C. Reasons for conversion during VATS lobectomy: what happens with increased experience. *J Vis Surg.* 2018;4:53.
- Aragon J, Mendez IP. From open surgery to uniportal VATS: Asturias experience. Journal of Thoracic Disease. 2014;6(Supplement6):S644-S649.
- 40. Arnold BN, Thomas DC, Bhatnagar V, et al. Defining the learning curve in robot-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy. *Surgery (United States)*. 2019;165(2):450-454.
- Baldonado J, Amaral M, Garrett J, et al. Credentialing for robotic lobectomy: what is the learning curve? A retrospective analysis of 272 consecutive cases by a single surgeon. J *Robot Surg.* 2019;13(5):663-669.
- Bedetti B, Bertolaccini L, Solli P, Scarci M. Learning curve and established phase for uniportal VATS lobectomies: The Papworth experience. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2017;9(1):138-142.
- 43. Chang C-C, Yen Y-T, Lin C-Y, Chen Y-Y, Huang W-L, Tseng Y-L. Single-port videoassisted thoracoscopic surgery subsegmentectomy: The learning curve and initial outcome. *Asian J.* 2020;43(5):625-632.

- Chen L, Pan Y, Zhang Q, Shao F, Ma G, Yang R. Learning Curve for Uniportal Thoracoscopic Anatomical Pulmonary Segmentectomy. *Surg Innov.* 2020.
- 45. Cheng K, Zheng B, Zhang S, et al. Feasibility and learning curve of uniportal videoassisted thoracoscopic segmentectomy. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*.
  2016;8(Supplement3):S229-S234.
- 46. Cheng Y-J. The learning curve of the three-port two-instrument complete thoracoscopic lobectomy for lung cancer-A feasible technique worthy of popularization. *Asian J*. 2015;38(3):150-154.
- Cheufou DH, Mardanzai K, Ploenes T, et al. Effectiveness of Robotic Lobectomy Outcome and Learning Curve in a High Volume Center. *Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon*. 2019;67(7):573-577.
- 48. Decaluwe H, Sokolow Y, Deryck F, et al. Thoracoscopic tunnel technique for anatomical lung resections: A 'fissure first, hilum last' approach with staplers in the fissureless patient. *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*. 2015;21(1):2-7.
- Demmy TL, Curtis JJ, Boley TM, Walls JT, Nawarawong W, Schmaltz RA. Diagnostic and therapeutic thoracoscopy: lessons from the learning curve. *American Journal of Surgery*. 1993;166(6):696-691.
- 50. Divisi D, Bertolaccini L, Barone M, et al. National adoption of video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) lobectomy: the Italian VATS register evaluation. *Journal* of Thoracic Disease. 2018;10(1):330-338.
- 51. Duan L, Jiang G, Yang Y. One hundred and fifty-six cases of anatomical pulmonary segmentectomy by uniportal video-assisted thoracic surgery: A 2-year learning experience. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. 2018;54(4):677-682.

- 52. Fahim C, Hanna W, Shargall Y, Waddell T, Kazuhiro Y, Yasufuku K. Robotic-assisted thoracoscopic surgery for lung resection: the first Canadian series. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*. 2017;60(4):260-265.
- 53. Feczko AF, Wang H, Nishimura K, et al. Proficiency of Robotic Lobectomy Based on Prior Surgical Technique in The Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Database. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;108(4):1013-1020.
- 54. Ferguson J, Walker W. Developing a VATS lobectomy programme--can VATS lobectomy be taught? *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery*. 2006;29(5):806-809.
- 55. Gallagher SP, Abolhoda A, Kirkpatrick VE, Saffarzadeh AG, Thein MS, Wilson SE. Learning Curve of Robotic Lobectomy for Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer by a Thoracic Surgeon Adept in Open LobectomyF. *Innovations-Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery*. 2018;13(5):321-327.
- Gezer S, Avci A, Turktan M. Cusum analysis for learning curve of videothoracoscopic lobectomy. *Open medicine (Warsaw, Poland)*. 2016;11(1):574-577.
- 57. Gonfiotti A, Bongiolatti S, Borgianni S, et al. Development of a video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy program in a single institution: results before and after completion of the learning curve. *Journal of cardiothoracic surgery*. 2016;11(1):130.
- 58. Gonzalez D, de la Torre M, Paradela M, et al. Video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy:
  3-year initial experience with 200 cases. *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery :*official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery.
  2011;40(1):e21-28.

- 59. Hamada A, Oizumi H, Kato H, et al. Learning curve for port-access thoracoscopic anatomic lung segmentectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2018;156(5):1995-2003.
- 60. Hernandez JM, Humphries LA, Keeling WB, et al. Robotic lobectomy: flattening the learning curve. *J Robot Surg.* 2012;6(1):41-45.
- 61. Hernandez-Arenas LA, Guido W, Jiang L. Learning curve and subxiphoid lung resections most common technical issues. *J Vis Surg.* 2016;2:117.
- 62. Hernandez-Arenas LA, Lei L, Purmessur RD, Yiming Z, Gening J, Yuming Z. Uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic early learning curve for major lung resections in a high volume training center. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10:S3670-S3677.
- Huang CL, Liu CC, Cheng CY, Lin CH, Wu YC, Wang BY. Learning Thoracoscopic Lobectomy in Resident Training. *Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon*. 2014;62(8):690-695.
- 64. Huang J, Li J, Qiu Y, et al. Thoracoscopic double sleeve lobectomy in 13 patients: A series report from multi-centers. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2015;7(5):834-842.
- 65. Kamiyoshihara M, Igai H, Ibe T, et al. Mediastinal lymph node dissection in totally thoracoscopic surgery using a bipolar sealing device. *Innovations: Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery*. 2013;8(2):112.
- 66. Le Gac C, Gonde H, Gillibert A, et al. Medico-economic impact of robot-assisted lung segmentectomy: what is the cost of the learning curve? *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*. 2020;30(2):255-262.
- 67. Lee EC, Lazzaro RS, Glassman LR, et al. Switching from Thoracoscopic to Robotic Platform for Lobectomy: Report of Learning Curve and Outcome. *Innovations:*

*Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery*. 2020;15(3):235-242.

- 68. Lee PC, Kamel M, Nasar A, et al. Lobectomy for non-small cell lung cancer by videoassisted thoracic surgery: Effects of cumulative institutional experience on adequacy of lymphadenectomy. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2016;101(3):1116-1122.
- Li X, Wang J, Ferguson MK. Competence versus mastery: The time course for developing proficiency in video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2014;147(4):1150-1154.
- Liu X, Chen X, Shen Y, et al. Learning curve for uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery lobectomy-results from 120 consecutive patients. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10(8):5100-5107.
- 71. Martin-Ucar AE, Aragon J, Bolufer Nadal S, et al. The influence of prior multiport experience on the learning curve for single-port thoracoscopic lobectomy: a multicentre comparative study. *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery*. 2017;51(6):1183-1187.
- 72. Mazzella A, Olland A, Falcoz PE, Renaud S, Santelmo N, Massard G. Video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy: Which is the learning curve of an experienced consultant? *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2016;8(9):2444-2453.
- 73. Meyer M, Gharagozloo F, Tempesta B, Margolis M, Strother E, Christenson D. The learning curve of robotic lobectomy. *International Journal of Medical Robotics and Computer Assisted Surgery*. 2012;8(4):448-452.

- Muyun P, Xiang W, Chen C, Sichuang T, Wenliang L, Fenglei Y. Report on 153 sequential three-incision robotic-assisted pulmonary resections by a single surgeon: technical details and learning curve. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2020;12(3):741-748.
- 75. Nachira D, Meacci E, Porziella V, et al. Learning curve of uniportal video-assisted lobectomy: analysis of 15-month experience in a single center. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10:S3662-S3669.
- 76. Nakanishi R, Fujino Y, Yamashita T, Shinohara S, Oyama T. Thoracoscopic anatomic pulmonary resection for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2014;97(3):980-985.
- 77. Puri V, Gaissert HA, Wormuth DW, et al. Defining Proficiency for The Society of Thoracic Surgeons Participants Performing Thoracoscopic Lobectomy. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;107(1):202-208.
- Smith DE, Dietrich A, Nicolas M, Da Lozzo A, Beveraggi E. Conversion during thoracoscopic lobectomy: related factors and learning curve impact. *Updates Surg.* 2015;67(4):427-432.
- 79. Song G, Sun X, Miao S, et al. Learning curve for robot-assisted lobectomy of lung cancer. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2019;11(6):2431-2437.
- Stamenovic D, Messerschmidt A, Schneider T. Cumulative Sum Analysis of the Learning Curve for Uniportal Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy and Lymphadenectomy. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic and Advanced Surgical Techniques*. 2019;29(7):914-920.
- Taniguchi Y, Nakamura H, Miwa K, et al. Initial results of robotic surgery for primary lung cancer: Feasibility, safety and learning curve. *Yonago Acta Medica*. 2017;60(3):162-166.

- Terra RM, Haddad R, de Campos JRM, et al. Building a Large Robotic Thoracic Surgery Program in an Emerging Country: Experience in Brazil. *World journal of surgery*. 2019;43(11):2920-2926.
- 83. Toker A, Özyurtkan M, Kaba E, et al. Robotic anatomic lung resections: the initial experience and description of learning in 102 cases. *Surgical Endoscopy*. 2016;30(2):676-683.
- 84. Veronesi G, Agoglia BG, Melfi F, et al. Experience with robotic lobectomy for lung cancer. *Innovations: Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery*. 2011;6(6):355-360.
- Vieira A, Bourdages-Pageau E, Kennedy K, Ugalde PA. The learning curve on uniportal video-assisted thoracic surgery: An analysis of proficiency. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2020;159(6):2487.
- 86. Wu W, Xu J, Wen W, et al. Learning curve of totally thoracoscopic pulmonary segmentectomy. *Frontiers of medicine*. 2018;12(5):586-592.
- Xiong R, Wu HR, Wang GX, et al. Single-Port Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy for Non-small-Cell Lung Cancer-Learning Curve Analysis. *Indian Journal of Surgery*. 2020:7.
- 88. Yao F, Wang J, Yao J, Hang F, Cao S, Cao Y. Video-Assisted Thoracic Surgical Lobectomy for Lung Cancer: Description of a Learning Curve. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic and Advanced Surgical Techniques*. 2017;27(7):696-703.
- 89. Yu WS, Lee CY, Lee S, Kim DJ, Chung KY. Trainees Can Safely Learn Video-Assisted Thoracic Surgery Lobectomy despite Limited Experience in Open Lobectomy. *The Korean journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2015;48(2):105-111.

- Zhang Y, Liu S, Han Y, Xiang J, Cerfolio RJ, Li H. Robotic Anatomical Segmentectomy: An Analysis of the Learning Curve. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;107(5):1515-1522.
- 91. Zhao H, Bu L, Yang F, Li J, Li Y, Wang J. Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery lobectomy for lung cancer: the learning curve. *World journal of surgery*. 2010;34(10):2368-2372.
- 92. Karnik N, Yang X, Goussous N, Howe L, Karras R. A community hospital's experience with robotic thoracic surgery. *Indian journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery : official organ, Association of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeons of India.* 2020;36(2):142-147.
- 93. Macdonald AL, Haddad M, Clarke SA. Learning Curves in Pediatric Minimally Invasive Surgery: A Systematic Review of the Literature and a Framework for Reporting. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2016;26(8):652-659.
- 94. Biau DJ, Landreau P, Graveleau N. Monitoring surgical performance: an application of industrial quality process control to anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2010;18(9):1263-1268.
- 95. Novick RJ, Fox SA, Stitt LW, Forbes TL, Steiner S. Direct comparison of risk-adjusted and non-risk-adjusted CUSUM analyses of coronary artery bypass surgery outcomes. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2006;132(2):386-391.
- Yap CH, Colson ME, Watters DA. Cumulative sum techniques for surgeons: a brief review. ANZ J Surg. 2007;77(7):583-586.
- 97. Rogers CA, Reeves BC, Caputo M, Ganesh JS, Bonser RS, Angelini GD. Control chart methods for monitoring cardiac surgical performance and their interpretation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2004;128(6):811-819.

- 98. Steiner SH, Cook RJ, Farewell VT, Treasure T. Monitoring surgical performance using risk-adjusted cumulative sum charts. *Biostatistics*. 2000;1(4):441-452.
- Grunkemeier GL, Wu YX, Furnary AP. Cumulative sum techniques for assessing surgical results. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2003;76(3):663-667.
- 100. Steiner SH, Woodall WH. Debate: what is the best method to monitor surgical performance? *BMC Surg.* 2016;16:15.
- Biau DJ, Resche-Rigon M, Godiris-Petit G, Nizard RS, Porcher R. Quality control of surgical and interventional procedures: a review of the CUSUM. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2007;16(3):203-207.
- 102. Woodall WH, Rakovich G, Steiner SH. An overview and critique of the use of cumulative sum methods with surgical learning curve data. *Statistics in medicine*. 2021;40(6):1400-1413.
- 103. Chang WR, McLean IP. CUSUM: a tool for early feedback about performance? *BMC Med Res Methodol.* 2006;6:8.
- Arora KS, Khan N, Abboudi H, Khan MS, Dasgupta P, Ahmed K. Learning curves for cardiothoracic and vascular surgical procedures--a systematic review. *Postgrad Med.* 2015;127(2):202-214.
- 105. Ramsay CR, Grant AM, Wallace SA, Garthwaite PH, Monk AF, Russell IT. Assessment of the learning curve in health technologies. A systematic review. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care.* 2000;16(4):1095-1108.
- 106. Subramonian K, Muir G. The 'learning curve' in surgery: what is it, how do we measure it and can we influence it? *BJU Int.* 2004;93(9):1173-1174.

- Kassite I, Bejan-Angoulvant T, Lardy H, Binet A. A systematic review of the learning curve in robotic surgery: range and heterogeneity. *Surgical Endoscopy*. 2019;33(2):353-365.
- Angelos P. Ethics and surgical innovation: challenges to the professionalism of surgeons.
   *Int J Surg.* 2013;11 Suppl 1:S2-5.
- 109. Michel LA, Johnson P. Is surgical mystique a myth and double standard the reality? *Med Humanit.* 2002;28(2):66-70.
- 110. van Kalmthout LWM, Muskens IS, Castlen JP, Lamba N, Broekman MLD, Bredenoord AL. The Ethics of the Learning Curve in Innovative Neurosurgery. In: Broekman MLD, ed. *Ethics of Innovation in Neurosurgery*. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019:49-56.
- Hu Y, Brooks KD, Kim H, et al. Adaptive simulation training using cumulative sum: a randomized prospective trial. *Am J Surg.* 2016;211(2):377-383.
- 112. Rolfing JD, Jensen RD, Paltved C. HipSim hip fracture surgery simulation utilizing the Learning Curve-Cumulative Summation test (LC-CUSUM). *Acta Orthop*. 2020;91(6):669-674.
- McQueen S, McKinnon V, VanderBeek L, McCarthy C, Sonnadara R. Video-Based Assessment in Surgical Education: A Scoping Review. *J Surg Educ.* 2019;76(6):1645-1654.
- 114. Turner SR, Lai H, Nasir BS, et al. Development and Pilot Testing of an Assessment Tool for Performance of Anatomic Lung Resection. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2020;109(6):1922-1930.

- 115. Vassiliou MC, Feldman LS, Andrew CG, et al. A global assessment tool for evaluation of intraoperative laparoscopic skills. *Am J Surg.* 2005;190(1):107-113.
- Goh AC, Goldfarb DW, Sander JC, Miles BJ, Dunkin BJ. Global evaluative assessment of robotic skills: validation of a clinical assessment tool to measure robotic surgical skills. *J Urol.* 2012;187(1):247-252.
- Hung AJ, Chen J, Shah A, Gill IS. Telementoring and Telesurgery for Minimally Invasive Procedures. *J Urol.* 2018;199(2):355-369.

APPENDICES

Section and Topic	ltem #	Checklist item Appendix 1. PRISMA Checklist	Location where item is reported						
TITLE									
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review.	5						
ABSTRACT									
Abstract	2	See the PRISMA 2020 for Abstracts checklist.	6						
INTRODUCTION	N								
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of existing knowledge.	10						
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the objective(s) or question(s) the review addresses.	11						
METHODS									
Eligibility criteria	5	Specify the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the review and how studies were grouped for the syntheses.	12,13						
Information sources	6	Specify all databases, registers, websites, organisations, reference lists and other sources searched or consulted to identify studies. Specify the date when each source was last searched or consulted.	12						
Search strategy	7	Present the full search strategies for all databases, registers and websites, including any filters and limits used.	53						
Selection process	8	Specify the methods used to decide whether a study met the inclusion criteria of the review, including how many reviewers screened each record and each report retrieved, whether they worked independently, and if applicable, details of automation tools used in the process.	14,15						
Data collection process	9	Specify the methods used to collect data from reports, including how many reviewers collected data from each report, whether they worked independently, any processes for obtaining or confirming data from study investigators, and if applicable, details of automation tools used in the process.							
Data items	10a	List and define all outcomes for which data were sought. Specify whether all results that were compatible with each outcome domain in each study were sought (e.g. for all measures, time points, analyses), and if not, the methods used to decide which results to collect.							
	10b	List and define all other variables for which data were sought (e.g. participant and intervention characteristics, funding sources). Describe any assumptions made about any missing or unclear information.	15						
Study risk of bias assessment	11	Specify the methods used to assess risk of bias in the included studies, including details of the tool(s) used, how many reviewers assessed each study and whether they worked independently, and if applicable, details of automation tools used in the process.	15						
Effect measures	12	Specify for each outcome the effect measure(s) (e.g. risk ratio, mean difference) used in the synthesis or presentation of results.	16						
Synthesis methods	13a	Describe the processes used to decide which studies were eligible for each synthesis (e.g. tabulating the study intervention characteristics and comparing against the planned groups for each synthesis (item #5)).	NA						
	13b	Describe any methods required to prepare the data for presentation or synthesis, such as handling of missing summary statistics, or data conversions.	15						
	13c	Describe any methods used to tabulate or visually display results of individual studies and syntheses.	16						
	13d	Describe any methods used to synthesize results and provide a rationale for the choice(s). If meta-analysis was performed, describe the model(s), method(s) to identify the presence and extent of statistical heterogeneity, and software package(s) used.	16						
	13e	Describe any methods used to explore possible causes of heterogeneity among study results (e.g. subgroup analysis, meta-regression). NA							
	13f	Describe any sensitivity analyses conducted to assess robustness of the synthesized results. NA							
Reporting bias assessment	14	Describe any methods used to assess risk of bias due to missing results in a synthesis (arising from reporting biases).	NA						
Certainty assessment	15	Describe any methods used to assess certainty (or confidence) in the body of evidence for an outcome.	NA						
RESULTS									

Study selection	16a	16a       Describe the results of the search and selection process, from the number of records identified in the search to the number of studies included in the review, ideally using a flow diagram.       17						
	16b	Cite studies that might appear to meet the inclusion criteria, but which were excluded, and explain why they were excluded.						
Study characteristics	17	Cite each included study and present its characteristics.	56-66					
Risk of bias in studies	18	Present assessments of risk of bias for each included study.	NA					
Results of individual studies	19	For all outcomes, present, for each study: (a) summary statistics for each group (where appropriate) and (b) an effect estimate and its precision (e.g. confidence/credible interval), ideally using structured tables or plots.	NA					
Results of 20a For each synthesis, briefly summarise the characteristics and risk of bias among contributing studies.								
syntheses	20b	Present results of all statistical syntheses conducted. If meta-analysis was done, present for each the summary estimate and its precision (e.g. onfidence/credible interval) and measures of statistical heterogeneity. If comparing groups, describe the direction of the effect.						
	20c	<ul> <li>Present results of all investigations of possible causes of heterogeneity among study results.</li> </ul>						
	20d	Present results of all sensitivity analyses conducted to assess the robustness of the synthesized results.	NA					
Reporting biases	21	Present assessments of risk of bias due to missing results (arising from reporting biases) for each synthesis assessed.						
Certainty of evidence	22	Present assessments of certainty (or confidence) in the body of evidence for each outcome assessed.	NA					
DISCUSSION								
Discussion	23a	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence.	17-23					
	23b	Discuss any limitations of the evidence included in the review.	32,33					
	23c	Discuss any limitations of the review processes used.	32,33					
	23d	Discuss implications of the results for practice, policy, and future research.	30-33					
OTHER INFORMAT	TION							
Registration and	24a	Provide registration information for the review, including register name and registration number, or state that the review was not registered.	12					
protocol	24b	Indicate where the review protocol can be accessed, or state that a protocol was not prepared.	12					
	24c	Describe and explain any amendments to information provided at registration or in the protocol.	NA					
Support	25	Describe sources of financial or non-financial support for the review, and the role of the funders or sponsors in the review.	6					
Competing interests	26	Declare any competing interests of review authors.	6					
Availability of data, code and other materials	27	Report which of the following are publicly available and where they can be found: template data collection forms; data extracted from included studies; data used for all analyses; analytic code; any other materials used in the review.	12					

From: Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

For more information, visit: <u>http://www.prisma-statement.org/</u>

## **Appendix 2. Medline Search Strategy**

- 1. ((lung OR pulmonary) adj2 (lobectomy\* OR segmentectom\* OR thymectom\* OR resect\* OR reduction OR excis\*)).ti,ab,kw,kf.
- 2. (pneumoresection\* or pneumectom\* or pneumonectom\*).ti,ab,kw,kf.
- 3. Thoracotomy/
- 4. Thoracotom\*.mp.
- 5. (lung adj2 (reduction or resect\* or excis\*)).ti,ab,kw,kf.
- 6. Lung Disease\*.mp.
- 7. Lung Neoplasms/
- 8. ((lung or pulmonary) adj2 (adenocarcinoma\* or cancer\* or neoplas\* or tumo?r\* or malignan\* or carcinoma\* or metas\* or carcinogenesis or sarcoma\*)).mp.
- 9. or/1-8
- 10. minimally invasive surgical procedures/ or thoracoscopy/
- 11. (minimally invasive surgical procedure\* or thoracoscop\* or video-assist\* or uniport\*).mp.
- 12. robotics/ or robotic surgical procedures/
- 13. robot\*.mp.
- 14. or/10-13
- 15.9 and 14
- 16. thoracic surgery, video-assisted/
- 17. (VATS or video assisted thora\* or or video-assisted thora\*).mp.
- 18. (video adj3 thora\*).mp.
- 19. or/15-18
- 20. learning curve/
- 21. Learning curve\*.mp.
- 22. Learning/
- 23. skill acquisition.mp.
- 24. Clinical Competence/
- 25. (clinical adj2 (skill\* or competenc\*)).mp.
- 26. "Outcome and Process Assessment, Health Care"/sn [Statistics & Numerical Data]
- 27. or/20-26
- 28. 19 and 27





### **Appendix 4. PRISMA Flow Diagram**



# Appendix 5. Summary of Included Studies

Author, Year	Patients	Sample Size	Surgical Approach	Type of Operation	Learning Curve Outcome	Number of Cases before Overcoming the Learning Curve
Muyun P et al., $2020^1$	Patients with benign and malignant lung lesions	153	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy & Lobectomy	Operative time	20
Huang J et al., 2015 <sup>2</sup>	Patients diagnosed with non-small cell lung cancer via bronchoscopy	13	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Double sleeve lobectomy with mediastinal lymphadenectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Blood loss</li> </ol>	Not specified
Feczko A et al., 2019 <sup>3</sup>	Patients diagnosed with non-small cell lung cancer	4,483	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>30-day mortality</li> <li>Perioperative transfusion</li> <li>Major Morbidity</li> <li>Operative time</li> </ol>	de novo surgeons: 93 cases for 30-day mortality, 40 cases for major morbidity, 93 cases for perioperative transfusion, 40 cases for OR duration <u>open-to-robotic surgeons:</u> 95 cases for 30-day mortality, 67 cases for major morbidity, 90 cases for perioperative transfusion, 14 cases for OR duration <u>video-assisted-to-robotic</u> <u>surgeons:</u> 86 cases for 30-day mortality, 69 cases for perioperative transfusion, 21 cases for OR duration
Bedetti B et al., 2017 <sup>4</sup>	Patients with primary lung carcinoma, metastatic disease, or infectious lung disease	73	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Uniportal lobectomy	<ol> <li>Postoperative complications (air leak, pneumonia, aspiration and hypoxia)</li> <li>Conversion to thoracotomy (non uniportal VATS)</li> <li>Operative time</li> </ol>	30
Amore D et al., 2018 <sup>5</sup>	Patients with suspected lung cancer	573	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Conversion	50

Taniguchi Y et al., 2017 <sup>6</sup>	Patients with primary non-small cell lung cancer	44	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy & segmentectomy	Not specified	Not Specified
Yao F et al., 2017 <sup>7</sup>	Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	67	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>1. Operative time</li> <li>2. Chest tube duration</li> <li>3. Postoperative</li> <li>Hospital stay</li> </ol>	26
Mazzella A et al., 2016 <sup>8</sup>	Patients with lung cancer or non- infectious benign pathologies	119	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Number of lymph nodes dissected</li> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Chest tube duration</li> <li>Air leaks duration</li> <li>Length of Hospital stay</li> </ol>	30 for reproducibility, 90 before operative time decreased
Zhao H et al., 2010 <sup>9</sup>	Patients with stage I or II lung cancer	90	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Not specified	30-60
Gonzalez D et al., $2011^{10}$	Patients with lung cancer, or other non-cancerous lung diseases	200	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Not specified	Not specified
Hernandez- Arenas L et al., 2018 <sup>11</sup>	Patients with lung cancer with T1 or T2 tumor, N0 or N1 tumor, chest wall involvement of the parietal pleura or ribs, previous thoracic surgery, forced expiratory volume in 1 second of >40% and predicted postoperative diffusing capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide >40%	60	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Uniportal lobectomy or segmentectomy	Duration of surgery	26-30
Yu WS et al., 2015 <sup>12</sup>	Patients with lung cancer	251	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Cumulative Failure	15-40
Decaluwe H et al., 2015 <sup>13</sup>	Patients with lung cancer, pulmonary metastasis, or non-neoplastic disease	384	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy, lobectomy, bilobectomy	Not specified	50
Nakanishi R et al., 2014 <sup>14</sup>	Patients with advanced stage non- small cell lung cancer of preoperative stage II or greater	76	Thoracoscopic	Lobectomy or bilobectomy or pneumonectomy	Not specified	25
Vieira A et al., 2020 <sup>15</sup>	Patients with stage I or II non-small cell lung cancer	274	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Procedure time	141
Cheng YJ, 2015 <sup>16</sup>	Patients with lung cancer	56	Two-instrument complete thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Surgery time</li> <li>Lymph node</li> </ol>	28

Meyer M et al., 2012 <sup>17</sup>	Patients with clinical stage I or II lung cancer	185	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Number of conversions</li> <li>Operative morbidity</li> <li>Operative mortality</li> <li>Hospital stay</li> <li>Surgeon comfort</li> </ol>	15 for operative time, 20 cases for operative mortality, 19 cases for surgeon comfort.
Martin-Ucar AE et al., 2017 <sup>18</sup>	Patients with primary lung cancer, secondary deposits or non-malignant disease	300	Uniportal video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Not specified	50
Lee EC et al., 2020 <sup>19</sup>	Patients with resectable primary non- small cell lung cancer	188 (robot- assisted) 49 (video- assisted)	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery & Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy with mediastinal and hilar lymph node dissection	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Lymph nodes</li> <li>sampled</li> </ol>	20 cases for initial learning curve, 78 cases before reaching competency on par with VATS
Chang CC et al., 2020 <sup>20</sup>	Patients with early state lung cancer	364 (segmentec tomy) 91 (subsegme ntectomy)	Single-port video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Subsegmentectomy & segmentectomy	Operative time	28
Toker A et al., $2016^{21}$	Patients T1a-b, or cT2N1 lesions, or benign lesions in the lung.	100	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy, segmentectomy, & pneumonectomy	Operative time, docking time, console time	14 cases for docking, 13 for console, 14 for operating time
Xiong R et al., 2020 <sup>22</sup>	Patients with histopathologically proven non-small cell lung cancer, with no neoadjuvant therapy, clinical T1-2N0-1M0 disease before the operation, and no known disease metastases	160	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time and blood loss	40
Fahim C et al., 2017 <sup>23</sup>	Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	167	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy, segmentectomy, nonanotomic (wedge) resection, & bilobectomy	Console time	20
Hernandez JM et al., 2012 <sup>24</sup>	Physiologically low-risk patients with early stage lung cancers or metastatic disease in favourable locations	20	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time	Not specified

Zhang Y et al., 2019 <sup>25</sup>	Patients with preoperatively biopsied peripheral lung tumor nodules, or nonbiopsied highly suspicious nodules, that are ≤2 cm with at least one of the following: pure adenocarcinoma in situ histology, nodule greater than or equal to 50% ground-glass appearance on CT, and radiologic surveillance confirmation of a long doubling time	104	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Surgical failure</li> </ol>	40 RA-CUSUM, 46 CUSUM
Duan L, Jiang G, & Yang Y, 2018 <sup>26</sup>	Patients with benign lung diseases with ground glass opacities, T1N0M0 peripheral lung cancer with tumor diameter ≤2 cm, peripheral lung cancer that would not tolerate lobectomy, ground glass opacities lesions that could not guarantee that the margin would be more than 2 cm by wedge resection, or multiple nodules and bilateral surgery	156	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy	Not specified	Not specified
Divisi D et al., 2018 <sup>27</sup>	Patients with malignant or benign lung tumors, or metastatic disease	3700	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	1. Operative time 2. Post-operative complications	Not specified
Le Gac C et al., 2020 <sup>28</sup>	Patients with lung tumors ≤2 cm, with low-growth features, absence of metastases, and high operative risk	102	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy	Operative time	27 cases for CUSUM, 31 for exponential model
Kamiyoshihara M et al., 2013 <sup>29</sup>	Patients undergoing mediastinal lymph node dissection	84	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time	15
Lee PC et al., 2016 <sup>30</sup>	Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	500	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Number of lymph nodes excised</li> <li>Number of lymph node stations excised</li> </ol>	50
Huang CL et al., 2014 <sup>31</sup>	Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	87	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Blood loss</li> </ol>	30
Nachira D et al., 2018 <sup>32</sup>	Patients with cN0 or cN1 lung cancers	43	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time	25
Wu W et al., 2018 <sup>33</sup>	Patients with small peripheral nodules (diameter ≤2 cm) that were (i) adenocarcinoma in situ and (ii) nodules with 50% ground glass	128	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time	72 cases for operative time

	opacity on CT; or, patients with poor pulmonary reserve or another major comorbidity that contraindicated lobectomy; or patients with deep indeterminate pulmonary nodules and solitary metastases that were unable to be removed by wedge resection					
Gallagher SP et al., 2018 <sup>34</sup>	Patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancer	157	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Conversion to open</li> <li>Estimated blood loss</li> <li>Hospitalization duration</li> <li>Overall morbidity</li> <li>Pathologic Nodal Upstaging</li> </ol>	40 cases for conversion to open, 60 cases for operative time
Liu X et al., 2018 <sup>35</sup>	Patients with both malignant and benign lesions on the lung	120	Uniportal video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time	44
Chen L et al., 2020 <sup>36</sup>	Patients with one of the following: (1) tumour size no more than 2 cm with at least one of those that were pure adenocarcinoma in situ histology, more than 50% ground- glass appearance on CT and radiologic surveillance confirmation of a long doubling time (≥400 days); (2) comprised cardiopulmonary reserve or other complications not suitable for lobectomy; (3) a benign lesion or a metastatic that was inappropriate for wedge resection due to the location in the deep parenchyma of the lung.	123	Uniportal video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Surgical failure</li> </ol>	24 standard CUSUM, 27 RA- CUSUM
Song G et al., 2019 <sup>37</sup>	Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	208	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy (R0 resection)	<ol> <li>Total operative time</li> <li>Docking time</li> <li>Console time</li> </ol>	1. 32 cases 2. 20 cases 3. 34 cases
Hamada A et al., 2018 <sup>38</sup>	Patients with primary lung cancer, lung metastases or benign disease	252	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy	Operative time	32 cases for leading surgeon, 38 cases for non-leading

						surgeons (excluding level 3 segments)
Hernandez- Arenas LA, Guido W, & Jiang L, 2016 <sup>39</sup>	Patients with benign lung diseases and patients with lung cancer with T status of tumor <5 cm (T1, T2), N status for tumour N0, FEV1 and DLCO >40% postoperative predicted	200	Uniportal video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy and Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Conversion rate</li> </ol>	85 cases for operative time
Cheng K et al., 2016 <sup>40</sup>	Patients with lung tumors	70	Uniportal video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Segmentectomy	Operative time	33
Cheufou DH et al., 2019 <sup>41</sup>	Patients with malignant lung tumors or bronchiectasis	64	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Not specified	20
Demmy TL et al., 1993 <sup>42</sup>	Patients undergoing therapeutic or diagnostic thoracoscopic surgery	69	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery		<ol> <li>mean chest tube duration</li> <li>mean length of stay</li> </ol>	Not specified
Gonfiotti A et al., 2016 <sup>43</sup>	Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	146	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Not specified	50
Ferguson & Walker, 2006 <sup>44</sup>	Patients with malignant stage I or II disease in the lung	276	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Mean operation time</li> <li>Mean blood loss</li> <li>Mean postoperative stay</li> </ol>	Not specified
Arnold BN et al., 2019 <sup>45</sup>	Patients with lung tumors	101	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operating time	22 cases for learning phase, 41 cases for continuing development, and 38 cases for mastery
Puri V et al., 2019 <sup>46</sup>	Patients with stage I lung cancer	24,196	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative mortality</li> <li>Major morbidity,</li> <li>Blood transfusion.</li> </ol>	50
Gezer S, Avci A, & Turktan M, 2016 <sup>47</sup>	Patients with malignant or benign lung tumors	58	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time</li> <li>Hospital stay</li> </ol>	27 cases for operative time was not reached for length of stay
Stamenovic D, Messerschmidt A, & Schneider T, 2019 <sup>48</sup>	Indication for surgery not described	104	Uniportal video- assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Mean operative time</li> <li>Number of resected lymph nodes</li> </ol>	<ul><li>27 cases for operative time (efficiency), 39 cases for mastery</li><li>26 cases for lymph node efficiency, 42 for mastery</li></ul>

Baldonado J et al., 2019 <sup>49</sup>	Patients with primary lung cancers, or metastatic lung disease	272	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy with hilar and mediastinal lymphadenectomy	Not specified	Not specified
Smith DE et al., 2015 <sup>50</sup>	Patients with lung tumors with a diameter minor of 5 cm, with preoperative knowledge about absence of involvement of great vessels, chest wall or diaphragm	154	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative time (min)</li> <li>Bleeding (mL),</li> <li>VATS conversion</li> </ol>	75
Li X, Wang J, & Ferguson MK, 2014 <sup>51</sup>	Patients with benign or malignant lung disease	400	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	<ol> <li>Operative times</li> <li>Estimated blood loss</li> <li>length of stay</li> </ol>	<u>Surgeon A:</u> 157 cases for operative time, 126 cases for estimated blood loss <u>Surgeon B:</u> 108 cases for operative time, 139 cases for estimated blood loss
Terra RM et al., 2019 <sup>52</sup>	Indication for surgery not described	203	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy & segmentectomy	Not specified	30
Karnik N, et al., 2020 <sup>53</sup>	Patients with pulmonary nodules, pneumothorax, mediastinal mass, interstitial lung disease, chylothorax, or pericardial effusion	79	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Percentage of cases that were lobectomies (complex thoracic procedures)	Not specified
Aragon J & Mendez IP, 2014 <sup>54</sup>	Most patients had non-small cell lung cancer	82	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Uniportal major pulmonary resection	Not specified	Mean surgical time was reduced after the 40 first cases
Abdellateef A et al., 2020 <sup>55</sup>	Patients with primary stage Ia or Ib lung cancer with ground glass opacity of $\leq 2.5$ cm or consolidation $\leq 1.5$ cm, N0 status for the tumor, small benign lung tumors, or localized infectious lung disease	300	Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Subxiphoid uniportal segmentectomy	Operative time	148
Veronesi G et al., 2011 <sup>56</sup>	Patients with suspected or proven clinical stage I-III lung cancer	91	Robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery	Lobectomy	Operative time	18-20

Abbreviations: cm, centimeter; CT; computed tomography, DLCO, diffusing capacity of lung for carbon monoxide; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; CUSUM, cumulative sum; OR, operative time; VATS, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery; RA-CUSUM, risk-adjusted cumulative sum.

- 1. Muyun P, Xiang W, Chen C, Sichuang T, Wenliang L, Fenglei Y. Report on 153 sequential three-incision robotic-assisted pulmonary resections by a single surgeon: technical details and learning curve. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2020;12(3):741-748.
- 2. Huang J, Li J, Qiu Y, et al. Thoracoscopic double sleeve lobectomy in 13 patients: A series report from multi-centers. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2015;7(5):834-842.
- 3. Feczko AF, Wang H, Nishimura K, et al. Proficiency of Robotic Lobectomy Based on Prior Surgical Technique in The Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Database. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;108(4):1013-1020.
- 4. Bedetti B, Bertolaccini L, Rocco R, Schmidt J, Solli P, Scarci M. Segmentectomy versus lobectomy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Thorac Dis.* 2017;9(6):1615-1623.
- 5. Amore D, Di Natale D, Scaramuzzi R, Curcio C. Reasons for conversion during VATS lobectomy: what happens with increased experience. *J Vis Surg.* 2018;4:53.
- 6. Taniguchi Y, Nakamura H, Miwa K, et al. Initial results of robotic surgery for primary lung cancer: Feasibility, safety and learning curve. *Yonago Acta Medica*. 2017;60(3):162-166.
- 7. Yao F, Wang J, Yao J, Hang F, Cao S, Cao Y. Video-Assisted Thoracic Surgical Lobectomy for Lung Cancer: Description of a Learning Curve. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic and Advanced Surgical Techniques*. 2017;27(7):696-703.
- 8. Mazzella A, Olland A, Falcoz PE, Renaud S, Santelmo N, Massard G. Video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy: Which is the learning curve of an experienced consultant? *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2016;8(9):2444-2453.
- 9. Zhao H, Bu L, Yang F, Li J, Li Y, Wang J. Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery lobectomy for lung cancer: the learning curve. *World journal of surgery*. 2010;34(10):2368-2372.
- 10. Gonzalez D, de la Torre M, Paradela M, et al. Video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy: 3-year initial experience with 200 cases. *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery*. 2011;40(1):e21-28.
- 11. Hernandez-Arenas LA, Lei L, Purmessur RD, Yiming Z, Gening J, Yuming Z. Uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic early learning curve for major lung resections in a high volume training center. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10:S3670-S3677.
- 12. Yu WS, Lee CY, Lee S, Kim DJ, Chung KY. Trainees Can Safely Learn Video-Assisted Thoracic Surgery Lobectomy despite Limited Experience in Open Lobectomy. *The Korean journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2015;48(2):105-111.
- 13. Decaluwe H, Sokolow Y, Deryck F, et al. Thoracoscopic tunnel technique for anatomical lung resections: A 'fissure first, hilum last' approach with staplers in the fissureless patient. *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*. 2015;21(1):2-7.
- 14. Nakanishi R, Fujino Y, Yamashita T, Shinohara S, Oyama T. Thoracoscopic anatomic pulmonary resection for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2014;97(3):980-985.
- 15. Vieira A, Bourdages-Pageau E, Kennedy K, Ugalde PA. The learning curve on uniportal video-assisted thoracic surgery: An analysis of proficiency. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2020;159(6):2487.

- 16. Cheng Y-J. The learning curve of the three-port two-instrument complete thoracoscopic lobectomy for lung cancer-A feasible technique worthy of popularization. *Asian J.* 2015;38(3):150-154.
- 17. Meyer M, Gharagozloo F, Tempesta B, Margolis M, Strother E, Christenson D. The learning curve of robotic lobectomy. *Int J Med Robot.* 2012;8(4):448-452.
- 18. Martin-Ucar AE, Aragon J, Bolufer Nadal S, et al. The influence of prior multiport experience on the learning curve for singleport thoracoscopic lobectomy: a multicentre comparative study. *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal* of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery. 2017;51(6):1183-1187.
- Lee EC, Lazzaro RS, Glassman LR, et al. Switching from Thoracoscopic to Robotic Platform for Lobectomy: Report of Learning Curve and Outcome. *Innovations: Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery*. 2020;15(3):235-242.
- 20. Chang C-C, Yen Y-T, Lin C-Y, Chen Y-Y, Huang W-L, Tseng Y-L. Single-port video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery subsegmentectomy: The learning curve and initial outcome. *Asian J.* 2020;43(5):625-632.
- 21. Toker A, Özyurtkan M, Kaba E, et al. Robotic anatomic lung resections: the initial experience and description of learning in 102 cases. *Surgical Endoscopy*. 2016;30(2):676-683.
- 22. Xiong R, Wu HR, Wang GX, et al. Single-Port Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy for Non-small-Cell Lung Cancer-Learning Curve Analysis. *Indian Journal of Surgery*. 2020:7.
- 23. Fahim C, Hanna W, Shargall Y, Waddell T, Kazuhiro Y, Yasufuku K. Robotic-assisted thoracoscopic surgery for lung resection: the first Canadian series. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*. 2017;60(4):260-265.
- 24. Hernandez JM, Humphries LA, Keeling WB, et al. Robotic lobectomy: flattening the learning curve. *J Robot Surg.* 2012;6(1):41-45.
- 25. Zhang Y, Liu S, Han Y, Xiang J, Cerfolio RJ, Li H. Robotic Anatomical Segmentectomy: An Analysis of the Learning Curve. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;107(5):1515-1522.
- 26. Duan L, Jiang G, Yang Y. One hundred and fifty-six cases of anatomical pulmonary segmentectomy by uniportal videoassisted thoracic surgery: A 2-year learning experience. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. 2018;54(4):677-682.
- 27. Divisi D, Bertolaccini L, Barone M, et al. National adoption of video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) lobectomy: the Italian VATS register evaluation. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10(1):330-338.
- 28. Le Gac C, Gonde H, Gillibert A, et al. Medico-economic impact of robot-assisted lung segmentectomy: what is the cost of the learning curve? *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*. 2020;30(2):255-262.
- 29. Kamiyoshihara M, Igai H, Ibe T, et al. Mediastinal lymph node dissection in totally thoracoscopic surgery using a bipolar sealing device. *Innovations: Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery*. 2013;8(2):112.
- 30. Lee PC, Kamel M, Nasar A, et al. Lobectomy for non-small cell lung cancer by video-assisted thoracic surgery: Effects of cumulative institutional experience on adequacy of lymphadenectomy. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2016;101(3):1116-1122.

- 31. Huang CL, Liu CC, Cheng CY, Lin CH, Wu YC, Wang BY. Learning Thoracoscopic Lobectomy in Resident Training. *Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon*. 2014;62(8):690-695.
- 32. Nachira D, Meacci E, Porziella V, et al. Learning curve of uniportal video-assisted lobectomy: analysis of 15-month experience in a single center. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10:S3662-S3669.
- 33. Wu W, Xu J, Wen W, et al. Learning curve of totally thoracoscopic pulmonary segmentectomy. *Frontiers of medicine*. 2018;12(5):586-592.
- 34. Gallagher SP, Abolhoda A, Kirkpatrick VE, Saffarzadeh AG, Thein MS, Wilson SE. Learning Curve of Robotic Lobectomy for Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer by a Thoracic Surgeon Adept in Open Lobectomy. *Innovations (Philadelphia, Pa).* 2018;13(5):321-327.
- 35. Liu X, Chen X, Shen Y, et al. Learning curve for uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery lobectomy-results from 120 consecutive patients. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2018;10(8):5100-5107.
- 36. Chen L, Pan Y, Zhang Q, Shao F, Ma G, Yang R. Learning Curve for Uniportal Thoracoscopic Anatomical Pulmonary Segmentectomy. *Surg Innov.* 2020.
- 37. Song G, Sun X, Miao S, et al. Learning curve for robot-assisted lobectomy of lung cancer. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2019;11(6):2431-2437.
- 38. Hamada A, Oizumi H, Kato H, et al. Learning curve for port-access thoracoscopic anatomic lung segmentectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2018;156(5):1995-2003.
- 39. Hernandez-Arenas LA, Guido W, Jiang L. Learning curve and subxiphoid lung resections most common technical issues. *J Vis Surg.* 2016;2:117.
- 40. Cheng K, Zheng B, Zhang S, et al. Feasibility and learning curve of uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic segmentectomy. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2016;8(Supplement3):S229-S234.
- 41. Cheufou DH, Mardanzai K, Ploenes T, et al. Effectiveness of Robotic Lobectomy-Outcome and Learning Curve in a High Volume Center. *Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon*. 2019;67(7):573-577.
- 42. Demmy TL, Curtis JJ, Boley TM, Walls JT, Nawarawong W, Schmaltz RA. Diagnostic and therapeutic thoracoscopy: lessons from the learning curve. *American Journal of Surgery*. 1993;166(6):696-691.
- 43. Gonfiotti A, Bongiolatti S, Borgianni S, et al. Development of a video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy program in a single institution: results before and after completion of the learning curve. *Journal of cardiothoracic surgery*. 2016;11(1):130.
- 44. Ferguson J, Walker W. Developing a VATS lobectomy programme--can VATS lobectomy be taught? *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery*. 2006;29(5):806-809.
- 45. Arnold BN, Thomas DC, Bhatnagar V, et al. Defining the learning curve in robot-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy. *Surgery* (*United States*). 2019;165(2):450-454.
- 46. Puri V, Gaissert HA, Wormuth DW, et al. Defining Proficiency for The Society of Thoracic Surgeons Participants Performing Thoracoscopic Lobectomy. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;107(1):202-208.

- 47. Gezer S, Avci A, Turktan M. Cusum analysis for learning curve of videothoracoscopic lobectomy. *Open medicine (Warsaw, Poland).* 2016;11(1):574-577.
- 48. Stamenovic D, Messerschmidt A, Schneider T. Cumulative Sum Analysis of the Learning Curve for Uniportal Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy and Lymphadenectomy. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic and Advanced Surgical Techniques*. 2019;29(7):914-920.
- 49. Baldonado J, Amaral M, Garrett J, et al. Credentialing for robotic lobectomy: what is the learning curve? A retrospective analysis of 272 consecutive cases by a single surgeon. *J Robot Surg.* 2019;13(5):663-669.
- 50. Smith DE, Dietrich A, Nicolas M, Da Lozzo A, Beveraggi E. Conversion during thoracoscopic lobectomy: related factors and learning curve impact. *Updates Surg.* 2015;67(4):427-432.
- 51. Li X, Wang J, Ferguson MK. Competence versus mastery: The time course for developing proficiency in video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2014;147(4):1150-1154.
- 52. Terra RM, Haddad R, de Campos JRM, et al. Building a Large Robotic Thoracic Surgery Program in an Emerging Country: Experience in Brazil. *World journal of surgery*. 2019;43(11):2920-2926.
- 53. Karnik N, Yang X, Goussous N, Howe L, Karras R. A community hospital's experience with robotic thoracic surgery. *Indian journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery : official organ, Association of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeons of India.* 2020;36(2):142-147.
- 54. Aragon J, Mendez IP. From open surgery to uniportal VATS: Asturias experience. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 2014;6(Supplement6):S644-S649.
- 55. Abdellateef A, Ma X, Qiao W, et al. Subxiphoid uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic pulmonary segmentectomy: Effect of learning curve and future perspectives. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. 2020;58:150-157.
- 56. Veronesi G, Agoglia BG, Melfi F, et al. Experience with robotic lobectomy for lung cancer. *Innovations (Philadelphia, Pa)*. 2011;6(6):355-360.





Number of Learning Curve Studies from 1990-Present

## Appendix 7. Learning Curve Outcomes Reported Per Study







## **CHAPTER II**

# LEARNING CURVE ANALYSIS OF NEAR-INFRARED FLUORESCENCE GUIDED ROBOT-ASSISTED SEGMENTECTOMY WITH INDOCYANINE GREEN DYE USING CUMULATIVE SUM METHODOLOGY

#### ABSTRACT

*Introduction:* Robotic pulmonary segmentectomy is a technically demanding procedure requiring intraoperative identification of intersegmental plane anatomy. Near-infrared fluorescence (NIF) mapping using Indocyanine Green dye has been shown to assist with intersegmental plane identification, however, the learning curve of this procedure has yet to be characterized. The objective of this trial was to evaluate the learning curve of this novel procedure. *Methods:* Adults diagnosed with early-stage non-small cell lung cancer, and a tumour  $\leq$ 3 centimetres in diameter confined to a single bronchopulmonary segment received NIF-guided robot-assisted segmentectomy using the completely portal 4 arm approach (CPRS-4). Cumulative sum analysis was used to evaluate the learning curve, with operative time as the outcome. The inflection point which signals attainment of competency was identified through visual inspection.

*Results:* The trial recruited 177 participants between October 2016 and January 2021, of which 106 received NIF-guided CPRS-4 and included a roughly equal distribution of simple (51/106, 48.11%) and complex (55/106, 52.81%) cases. The inflection point of the learning curve for NIF-guided CPRS-4 occurred following the 62<sup>nd</sup> case, after which point clinically important reductions in blood loss (Phase 1=127.73 mL vs. Phase 2=102.32 mL; p<0.001) and operative time (MD=16.9 minutes; 95%CI 5.95, 27.85; p=0.003), as well as an increase in lymph node yield was observed, despite similar distribution of complex and simple segments among the learning phases. This study reports the first learning curve characterization of NIF-guided CPRS-4, which appears to be around 62 cases before the surgeon reaches a plateau in performance. **Conflicts of Interest:** None.

Funding Source: Boris Family Centre for Robotic Surgery.

71

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Surgery for Non-small Cell Lung Cancer

Segmentectomy is a parenchyma-sparing technique that has been proposed for the treatment of early-stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Anatomically, lungs are comprised of five lobes, which can be further divided into smaller anatomical components called broncho-pulmonary segments. Each segment contains its own blood supply, therefore each segment is functionally and physiologically independent. For patients who have a tumour confined to one broncho-pulmonary segment, the removal of a particular segment—called a segmentectomy—is possible. Advances in computed tomography have led to an increase in the screening and early detection of NSCLC and has driven the demand for segmentectomy,<sup>1</sup> which retains more healthy lung tissue when compared to the removal of an entire lobe of lung (lobectomy). Therefore, patients with small tumours (≤3cm in diameter), compromised lung function, or bilateral pulmonary nodules requiring multiple resections over time stand to benefit the most from segmental resections.<sup>2</sup>

Despite these notable advantages, segmentectomy remains a controversial procedure to perform for a number of reasons. Firstly, segmentectomy is technically demanding. Variation in segmental anatomy<sup>3</sup> and indiscriminate anatomical structures within the lung tissue<sup>4</sup> can introduce variability when performing the procedure. Secondly, segmentectomy may require the identification of multiple intersegmental planes and the obtainment of safe resection margins in several lung surfaces. This factor can contribute to concerns of insufficient margin length and potential tumour recurrence at the resection margin, and presents a particular challenge in the context of malignant disease. Finally, higher rates of mortality and morbidity, including prolonged air leak, longer length of hospital stay, and prolonged chest tube duration (>5 days)
have been highlighted as additional patient safety concerns for performing this procedure over other types of anatomical lung resections.<sup>5</sup> Many of these concerns have drawn their basis from a historical trial performed in 1995 by Ginsberg et al., who reported a three-fold increase in regional recurrence and inferior survival associated with segmentectomy when compared to lobectomy.<sup>6</sup> While this seminal study set the standard of care for early stage NSCLC, it was conducted using crude segmentectomy techniques, it pooled segmentectomy and subsegmentectomy (wedge) resections together, and minimally invasive surgical techniques had not yet been popularized. As a result, many patients who would otherwise be candidates for segmentectomy, undergo a full lobectomy, even when it may not be clinically necessary.<sup>7</sup>

#### **Advances in Segmentectomy Techniques**

Contemporary evidence suggests that segmentectomy has equivalent survival to lobectomy,<sup>8</sup> and may even lead to better patient outcomes including: less blood loss, shorter operation time, less chest tube drainage, and shorter length of stay.<sup>9</sup> While there are at least two prospective clinical trials currently assessing the clinical efficacy of segmentectomy,<sup>10,11</sup> approaches to lesion localization and resection via segmentectomy have progressed considerably since the landmark trial by Ginsberg and colleagues.

Anatomical segmentectomy has shown to be feasible using both multi-port and uniport<sup>12</sup> video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery,<sup>13</sup> in addition to more recent advancements on the robotic surgical platform.<sup>14</sup> Innovative methods of preoperative lesion marking and intraoperative margin assessment techniques have aided in the adoption of this challenging procedure.<sup>15</sup>

Hanna and colleagues<sup>16</sup> recently described one of these advancements using near-infrared fluorescence (NIF) and indocyanine green (ICG) dye. In NIF-guided robot-assisted

segmentectomy, an intravenous injection of the dye travels through the lungs and illuminates with a fluorescent green hue when exposed to near-infrared light. In this way, the surgeon is able to isolate the entire lung except the segment planned for removal by ligating and dividing the inflow and outflow vessels of the target segment prior to injection. This novel technique, originally described by Pardolesi et al., has been used to localize segments through visual delineation of the segmental anatomy.<sup>17</sup> In a trial of 80 patients, Hanna et al. found significantly lengthened resection margins in addition to feasible identification of segmental plane anatomy with NIF-guided segmentectomy.<sup>16</sup> While this finding indicates added value of NIF-guided resection, the learning curve has not yet been evaluated for this novel procedure.

#### **Learning Curves for Major Thoracic Robotic Procedures**

While the previously discussed issues of heterogeneity between individual learning curve evaluations described in Chapter 1 preclude between-study comparisons and/or pooling of data to estimate an average learning curve of a given surgical procedure, a number of investigations have described the experience required to safely perform major thoracic procedures. The learning curve for robotic thymectomy appears to be 10-20 cases<sup>18-20</sup>, while the learning curve for anatomic robotic lung resections are much more variable. The results from several studies indicate significantly shorter operative times after reaching 20 cases,<sup>21-25</sup> while other studies suggest slightly longer learning curves of at least 40-60 cases before proficiency is reached<sup>26,27</sup>. Interestingly, Fahim et al. noted a higher rate of conversion to thoracotomy with increasing case numbers in Canada's first case series of robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery<sup>21</sup>. This has been hypothesized to be due to the fact that surgeons are willing to perform difficult resections on more central tumours as they become increasingly comfortable with the surgical technique. Therefore, the current literature suggests that the learning curve for anatomical lung resection ranges between 20 and 40 cases. With regards to the learning curve of robot-assisted segmentectomy, Zhang et al. have demonstrated that the learning curve is overcome after 41 cases<sup>27</sup>.

However, the learning curve associated with NIF-guided robot-assisted segmentectomy is not currently known. Thus, there is a need to characterise the learning curve of this procedure in order to evaluate its feasibility for physician uptake. We sought to perform a CUSUM analysis of the learning curve for robot-assisted segmentectomy with and without NIF-guidance, which will be the first quantitative assessment of this novel procedure. To the author's knowledge, this study will be the first North American description of the learning curve for anatomical lung resection using the robotic approach. The results will report the number of cases required to perform robot-assisted segmentectomy using NIF mapping as a surgical adjunct, identify potential barriers to physician uptake, and help promote safe adoption of minimally invasive robotic procedures.

## **Study Aims**

The purpose of this project was to perform a CUSUM analysis in order to determine the number of cases needed to overcome the learning curve of robot-assisted segmentectomy, with and without NIF-guidance with ICG dye, by a single surgeon experienced in minimally invasive techniques.

The learning curve will be described in different phases indicated by distinct and sustained changes in surgeon performance. Typically, these phases are characterized by (1) a starting point, where individual level factors such as initial experience and personal expertise

provide a baseline level of competency, (2) a slope period, which is determined by the speed by which one learns a new task, and (3) a plateau, where the incremental change in the outcome being measured becomes marginal. Technical proficiency will be considered the inflection point in the learning curve where surgeon performance reaches a plateau (i.e. minor changes are observed in the process variable). The secondary aims of this study are to compare clinical outcomes of (1) patients belonging to different phases of the learning curve, as identified through CUSUM analysis and (2) to assess differences in patients with simple versus complex segmental resections.

We hypothesized that significant differences in operative time and conversions to lobectomy and/or thoracotomy, will be observed across the initial and final learning curve phases. In addition, we hypothesized that using the NIF ICG surgical adjunct will require fewer cases before overcoming the learning curve.

#### **METHODS**

## Ethics

This study was granted a no objection letter from Health Canada authorizing the off-label use of ICG (#184323) and was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. The study was carried out in compliance with the Canadian Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Human Subjects.<sup>28</sup> Participants provided full informed consent for the surgery and associated study procedures. The trial was registered on www.clinicaltrials.gov (#NCT02570815).

### **Study Design**

This was a single-centre trial that assessed a prospective cohort of patients undergoing robotic segmentectomy with and without the use of a NIF-guided surgical adjunct between October 2016 and January 2021. Methods and results from the first 80 patients from this cohort have already been reported.<sup>16</sup> Participants providing their consent had their demographic, clinical, and follow-up data analyzed. Patients were assessed chronologically for the learning curve analysis. Perioperative outcomes of each patient among the learning curve phases are summarized and compared between phases using descriptive and inferential statistical analyses.

### **Patient Population**

As has been previously described,<sup>16</sup> we enrolled individuals who are older than 18 years of age, with clinical stage I NSCLC and a tumour  $\leq$ 3 cm in diameter that is confined to one broncho-pulmonary segment confirmed by CT imaging, rendering the candidate suitable for robotic segmentectomy. Individuals receiving lobar or non-robotic segmental resections were not

eligible for this study. It is unknown if ICG dye has teratogenic effects or is excreted in human breast milk,<sup>29</sup> therefore, pregnant and/or breastfeeding women, or women of childbearing potential and who are not taking adequate birth control were excluded. Individuals with sensitivity or intolerance to contrast dye were also excluded.

All participants were operated on by a single surgeon (WCH) using the da Vinci System (Intuitive Surgical, Sunnyvale, CA) at a tertiary medical centre in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. Prior to adopting the robotic segmentectomy approach described in this study, the surgeon had performed over 500 video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomies and more than 250 robotic cases, but no prior robotic segmentectomies. Patients consenting to the study were prospectively enrolled prior to operation and were followed for 30 days postoperatively. Imaging data were reviewed jointly by a radiologist and the operating surgeon to determine where the primary lung nodule and corresponding pulmonary vein, and artery were located.

#### **Peri-Operative Outcome Measures**

Operative time, defined as the time between the start of surgery and skin closure, was the metric used to assess the proficiency of NIF-guided robotic segmentectomy. This parameter was selected *a priori* as it is the most commonly reported measure used to assess learning curves in the thoracic surgical literature (Chapter 1).

Intra- and postoperative metrics were also measured and collected. Intraoperative information, such as rates of conversion to lobectomy and thoracotomy, blood loss, and additional post-operative surgical complications as per the Ottawa Thoracic Morbidity and Mortality System for Classifying Thoracic Surgical Complications (TM&M) were collected.<sup>30</sup> TM&M is a well-established and standardized classification system for reporting adverse events

after surgery. It provides definitions, categories, and severity of complications. In addition, blood loss, chest tube drainage, and operation time was also collected prospectively from anesthesia records. Length of hospital stay was be obtained from hospital records. Participants were followed up over a 30-day period, where study visits will coincide with routine 2- and 4-week clinic follow-ups in accordance with institutional protocols. Pathology details, including pathological stage, number of lymph nodes sampled, tumour size, and tumour location were also collected from the pathology note of each participant. The TNM staging system was used for cancer staging.<sup>31</sup>

## **Segment Complexity**

To control for differences arising from more challenging resections based on tumour location, each operation was classified into two categories according to the degree of segmental complexity. The definition used to categorize simple and complex segments is consistent with previous literature and based on the number of intersegmental dissection surfaces encountered during resection.<sup>32</sup> Each segmental resection was classified as either simple (a single or minimal intersegmental dissection surfaces), or complex (multiple dissection surfaces in contact at obtuse angles) (Appendix 1).

## **Operative Technique**

As has been previously described,<sup>16</sup> all operations were conducted by a single surgeon using the da Vinci robotic platform (Intuitive Surgical, Sunnyvale, California) using the Completely Portal 4-Arm (CPRS-4)<sup>33</sup> approach and Firefly Fluorescence Imaging camera (Intuitive Surgical) as a light source for NIF. Conversion to lobectomy was necessitated when N1 disease was suspected or confirmed on intraoperative frozen section, when negative margins could not be obtained, or when the tumour was missing from the resected specimen. Conversions to thoracotomy were indicated when the procedure failed to progress robotically or when required due to intraoperative complications.

At the time of surgery, the surgeon ligated the pulmonary vein and artery of the bronchopulmonary segment containing the lung cancer nodule, isolating the in- and out-flow blood vasculature. The lung parenchyma of the isolated segment then displayed a purple discoloration consistent with ischemia. ICG was prepared as a sterile solution (2.5 mg/10mL) for injection, as per the protocol used in previous case reports.<sup>17</sup> After vascular ligation, a 6 to 8mL bolus of ICG solution was injected into the peripheral vein catheter, followed by a 10-mL saline solution bolus, as described by Pardolesi et al.<sup>17</sup> The Firefly camera, capable of detecting infrared fluorescence, was then be used for lung imaging using the NIF adjunct. The entire lung, except the broncho-pulmonary segment which was previously isolated from blood supply, then fluoresces within 30-40 seconds, exhibiting a green hue.<sup>17</sup> The border between the 'dark' segment and the adjacent fluorescent lung parenchyma served as the visual cue to the true anatomical inter-segmental plane (Figure 1). The surgeon then proceeded with the pulmonary resection along this inter-segmental plane. The resected 'dark' lung segment was immediately evaluated by a pathologist on-site. If the lung nodule of interest was located within the segment, and the resection margins were free of tumour, then the operation was concluded. If the lung nodule was not located within the segment, or if the margins of resection were positive for malignant tumour, then the patient would receive a pulmonary lobectomy to ensure successful resection of the nodule.

Figure 1. Demonstrating extension of margins by ICG mapping: Identification of bronchopulmonary segment (dark) and the surrounding healthy tissue (green).



#### **Statistical Analysis**

## Cumulative Observed-Expected Failure Chart

The CUSUM method is a recursive quality monitoring tool used to measure the sum of deviations between the individual data points and the mean of all data points<sup>34</sup>. The CUSUM approach is advantageous to other audit methods since it allows for the sensitive detection of slow sustained degradation of a process otherwise thought to be under control<sup>35</sup>.Operative time, as defined earlier, will be used as the parameter for CUSUM (CUSUM<sub>OT</sub>), specified here as  $CUSUM_{OT} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - \mu)$ , where  $x_i$  indicates an individual operative time and  $\mu$  indicates the mean operative time. Patients were assessed chronologically based on their operation date, beginning with the earliest case and ending with the latest case. A total of four CUSUM graphs were generated in this analysis. Two CUSUM curves were generated for patients who undergo either NIF-guided or standard robot-assisted segmentectomy. For those who receive the ICG injection, an additional two CUSUM charts were graphed based on segment complexity (simple and complex). If performance was favourable, the CUSUM line trended downward. Distinct

deviations in performance, as measured in excursions from the process variable mean, signalled a departure from a previous phase and entry into a new phase of the learning curve. The inflection point on the graph was used to identify when the learning curve had been overcome.

## Segment Complexity and Interphase Comparisons

Phases that are generated from the learning curve analysis were used to inform group comparisons of primary and secondary outcomes. Normally distributed continuous variables, as determined through visual inspection of a histogram, were described using means and standard deviations, and group values will were compared using independent sample t-tests. Categorical variables were described using counts and frequencies and compared using the Fischer's exact test. Ordinal variables and non-normally distributed variables were described as median and interquartile ranges and compared using Mann-Whitney U-test. Statistical significance will be set to p<0.05. All statistical analysis were performed on SPSS version 22.0 (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA) software.

#### RESULTS

## **Patient Characteristics**

One-hundred and seventy-seven patients were enrolled in the trial between October 2016 and January 2021 (Figure 2). Most patients received the planned operation with ICG injection (106/177, 59.9%). The remaining patients who did not receive ICG injection (71/177, 92.21%) underwent segmentectomy (27/71; 38.03), lobectomy (21/7, 21.58%), wedge (13/71, 18.31%), or thoracotomy (9/71; 12.70%), or no procedure (1/71; 1.41%). The surgery for one patient was aborted until further pathology details were made available due to significant existing morbidity.

Figure 2. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials diagram.



Reasons for not receiving the dye included visible tumour and/or segmental plane anatomy (15/71, 21.13%); anatomic considerations including dense adhesions (23/71, 32.39%); benign disease (2/71, 2.82%); failure to ligate segmental vasculature (12/71, 16.90%); bronchial or vascular injury (4/71; 5.6%); uncertain tumour etiology (1/71, 1.41%); inability to tolerate single-lung ventilation (1/71, 1.41%); inability to secure adequate oncologic margin (8/71, 11.27%); metastatic disease (3/71, 4.22%); significant existing morbidity (1/71; 1.41%) and segmentectomy not required (1/71, 1.41%).

Participant characteristics are summarized in <u>Appendix 2</u>. Participants in the ICG and non-ICG groups did not exhibit any statistical differences in age, sex, BMI, smoking status, comorbidities, cancer history, forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), predicted diffusing capacity of lung for carbon monoxide (%DLCO), and disease characteristics. There was a single mortality in the ICG group after experiencing a vascular event.

When compared to patients receiving ICG segmentectomy, the operative time of those receiving standard segmentectomy was significantly shorter (mean difference (MD) = -13.07 minutes; 95% confidence interval (95% CI) -22.69, -3.45); p=0.008). Patients receiving standard segmentectomy were also more likely to have a completion lobectomy (ICG=6.60% vs. non-ICG=32.40%; p<0.001), be converted to thoracotomy (ICG=1.89% vs. non-ICG=22.54%; p<0.001), have additional lung procedures performed (ICG=24.53% vs. non-ICG=40.85%; p=0.031), and have less lymph nodes sampled (ICG=7 IQR, 5-9 vs. non-ICG=6 IQR 4-8; p=0.008). Segment complexity distribution between ICG and non-ICG patients were equal (p=1.00). Full surgical details are presented in <u>Appendix 3</u>.

## Learning Curve Analysis

Visual inspection of the CUSUM plot of operative time revealed that the learning curve of segmentectomy with ICG dye was overcome after 62 procedures (Figure 3a). In comparison, the learning curve of segmentectomy without ICG dye was overcome after 26 procedures (Figure 3b). The inflection point of the CUSUM curve demarcates a change in the overall slope of the curve from a general positive slope (Phase 1) to a negative slope (Phase 2). While a positive slope indicates that the surgeon takes longer than average to complete the operation, a negative slope indicates that the surgeon's operative times are decreasing below the average value. As such, the inflection point represents a shift from increasing to decreasing operative time, and signifies that the surgeon has attained proficiency in the operative technique as he is now able to perform it more efficiently.



Figure 3a. CUSUMot Plot for ICG Segmentectomy



Figure 3b. CUSUMot Plot for Non-ICG Segmentectomy

As shown in the Cumulative Sum (CUSUM) curves, cut-off points were observed on (a) the 62<sup>nd</sup> case in ICG patients, and following (b) the 29<sup>th</sup> case for non-ICG patients due to an increase and a decrease in the operative time. Phase 1 (red) indicates when the curve was ascending (positive cumulative operative time), suggesting that the operative time was still longer than the average operative time. Phase 2 (green) indicates when the curve had a tendency to decline (negative cumulative operative time), indicating that the operative time was shorter than the average operative time.

In comparing the learning curve of segmentectomy with ICG dye between simple and complex cases, a similar number of cases were needed to overcome the learning curve. Thirty-three cases were needed for complex segmentectomies with ICG (Figure 4a), while a slightly lower threshold of 29 cases was required for simple segmentectomies with ICG (Figure 4b).



Figure 4a. CUSUMot Plots for Complex Cases





## Perioperative Outcomes Compared Among the Learning Phases

Comparison of operative time between learning phases of ICG segmentectomy cases revealed significantly longer operative time in Phase 1 (MD=16.9 minutes; 95%CI 5.95, 27.85; p=0.003) when compared to Phase 2, despite similar distribution of case complexity between the phases (Appendix 4). Furthermore, participants in Phase 2 experienced significantly less blood loss (Phase 1=127.73 mL vs. Phase 2=102.32 mL; p<0.001) and more extensive lymph node dissection (Phase 1= 6 IQR, 4-6 vs. Phase 2=8 IQR, 6-8; p=0.023). The participants in Phase 1 and 2 differed significantly in the distribution of resected lung lobes; a significantly higher proportion of segments belonging to the right upper lobe were resected following the 62<sup>nd</sup> case, once the learning curve was overcome (Phase 1= 4.84%, vs Phase 2=31.82%). Phases were otherwise similar in other surgical outcomes such as rate of intraoperative complications and adverse events, conversion rate, and rates of additional lung surgery.

#### Segment Complexity

Comparisons of surgical complexities are summarized in <u>Appendix 5</u>. All ICG segmentectomy cases were divided into two categories based on segment complexity, defined *a-priori*. This included a roughly equal distribution of simple (51/106, 48.11%) and complex (55/106, 52.81%) cases. Simple cases required significantly shorter operative time when compared to complex cases (MD=-20.91 minutes; 95%CI -31.42, -10.40, p<0.001). Complex cases were more likely to receive more extensive lymph node dissection as measured by number of lymph nodes sampled (simple=6.0 IQR, 4-8 vs. complex=8.0 IQR 6,10.5). Intraoperative complications, blood loss, adverse events, conversions, and length of stay were similar in either complexity group.

#### DISCUSSION

We report the first learning curve evaluation for NIF-guided robot-assisted segmentectomy to be around 62 cases. While many investigations have sought to describe the learning curve for performing video-assisted segmentectomy, the use of robotic surgery in performing sublobar resections is a more recent innovation<sup>36</sup> that requires careful study and evaluation. Through our CUSUM analysis, we demonstrate that cases who were operated on after the 62<sup>nd</sup> case experienced less blood loss, more extensive lymph node dissection, and shorter operative time than those earlier in the learning curve. Segment complexity was not shown to impact the rate of conversion to open thoracotomy or lobectomy, however, complex cases were associated with longer operative time. In non-ICG cases, the learning curve was overcome after 26 cases, and was associated with more conversions and less extensive lymph node dissection compared to cases operated on using the NIF surgical adjunct.

In this study, the number of cases required to overcome the learning curve for NIFguided segmentectomy was 62 cases, which is higher than previous reports despite similar rates of conversion.<sup>27</sup> Zhang et al.'s learning curve analysis of robotic segmentectomy features similar CUSUM methodology and reports that proficiency is reached following the  $41^{st}$  case. We believe one of the reasons for the observed differences in the learning curve is due to the higher proportion of complex cases in the present study (51.89% vs. 30.77%), which was significantly associated with longer operative times (p<0.001). Furthermore, Zhang et al.'s study does not involve the use of the NIF surgical adjunct which requires additional technical skill to master. More recently, Le Gac et al. reported a learning curve of 30 cases, though their investigation did not account for segment complexity.<sup>14</sup> It is well recognized that learning curves are highly operator dependent,<sup>37</sup> however, our results are in line with other investigations that report a similar learning curve of around 63 cases for robotic anatomic lung resection.<sup>27,38,39</sup>

One of the challenges in using the robotic platform is a lack of tactile feedback when compared to using open approaches, which removes the ability of the surgeon to physically manipulate pulmonary anatomy.<sup>40</sup> This limitation, combined with variations in plane anatomy in the lung, makes the correct identification of segmental plane anatomy a particular challenge in minimally invasive lung surgery. Intraoperative lesion and segmental plane localization through the use of surgical adjuncts have been developed to assist the surgeon in overcoming this technical limitation. Three-dimensional reconstruction on the robotic platform, inflationdeflation using a jet ventilator, and angiography and bronchography are intraoperative methods that have been previously described to detect the intersegmental plane.<sup>1,14,41</sup> To the authors knowledge, this learning curve study is the first to report on the use of ICG dye as a surgical adjunct for delineating plane anatomy in robot-assisted segmentectomy.

The mean operative time and blood loss for NIF-guided robot-assisted segmentectomy was 132.34 minutes and 111.19 milliliters (mL), respectively, which is in line with other reports in the literature. As the surgeon progressed past the  $62^{nd}$  case of the learning curve, blood loss (127.72 mL vs. 102.32 mL, p=0.007) and operative time (139.35 minutes vs. 122.45 minutes, p=0.003) decreased significantly, and the number of lymph nodes dissected increased significantly (6.00 vs. 8.00, p=0.023). While there exists a number of systematic reviews and meta-analyses documenting the safety of sublobar resections compared to standard lobectomy using robot-assisted thoracoscopic surgery, the reporting is concerned primarily with oncologic efficacy and survival data.<sup>42-45</sup> However, our experience is in line with a review published by Cao et al.<sup>46</sup>, who report blood loss and operative time ranges well within our values. In addition, extensive lymph node dissection has been shown to be an important prognostic factor in sublobar resections.<sup>47</sup> Therefore, we believe that the learning curve obtained in our study suggests important changes in performance that are associated with marked improvements in clinical outcomes.

Due to the variable anatomic structures involved in pulmonary segmentectomy, we decided to control for segment complexity in our CUSUM analysis of ICG cases. Many factors, such as case-mix and complexity, may influence the ease of which a surgery is performed, and thus the resultant learning curves generated from empirical analysis. Therefore, it is important to control for pre-surgical risk when evaluating the learning curve, wherever possible. Riskadjusted CUSUM methodology has been developed for this very purpose,<sup>48</sup> however, these analyses depend on the validity of the data-sets of which pre-surgical risks are ascertained as well as the odds ratio and control limits that the learning curve analysis is designed to detect.<sup>49</sup> We chose to evaluate the impact of segment complexity, as more complex segments have been shown to increase operative times when performing minimally invasive segmentectomy.<sup>5</sup> Notably, complex cases required significantly longer operative times than simple cases (142.4 minutes vs. 121.49 minutes, p<0.001). Increased number of lymph nodes sampled in complex cases may be a contributory reason for this finding. Interestingly, there were no differences in rates of conversion to thoracotomy or lobectomy in complex segments, as has been reported in other evaluations in both video-50 and robot-assisted approaches.7

Furthermore, the number of right upper lobe (RUL) resections performed in Phase 2 of the learning curve is important to note. Segments comprising the right upper lobe are technically challenging, and the increase of these procedures in Phase 2 suggests the surgeon becoming more comfortable with advancing to more complex cases. Indeed, this is a finding that was

91

absent in a previous report of the first 80 patients in the present trial.<sup>16</sup> In addition, the number of RUL performed with ICG were greater than with non-ICG segmentectomy, indicating that NIF mapping may play an important role in added surgeon confidence in the context of increasing case complexity. This hypothesis is supported by significant increases in conversions to lobectomy and thoracotomy when performing segmentectomies without NIF mapping (p<0.001).

This study has multiple shortcomings. First, we acknowledge the lack of inclusion of control limits in our CUSUM analysis of the learning curve. In anticipation of this analysis, the study author conducted a systematic review of surgical learning curves in minimally invasive thoracic surgery, including studies that have evaluated robotic segmentectomy. Unfortunately, due to procedure novelty in addition to perceived heterogeneity of methods used to characterize surgical learning curves in this discipline, we were unable to derive expected values from the literature in which we could base a suitable competency threshold. However, this study provides the requisite data for future novice surgeons who would like to adopt this procedure. Second, we cannot exclude the possibility of selection bias. Although the distribution of lobes were similar between both trial arms, patients were not randomized as is accomplished by conventional interventional trials. Therefore, more complex cases were likely selected later in the learning curve as the surgeon gained sufficient experience with less complex cases. Last, the CUSUM method adopted relies on subjective assessment of the graphs generated, and there is a possibility that they may have been overinterpreted, thus the results may not be generalizable to other surgeons. However, we believe that this study has employed a number of methods to mitigate the potential for this bias. Our learning curve evaluation was structured using explicit definitions and included previous surgeon experience to allow for the contextualization of results to surgeons from different backgrounds of expertise. Our CUSUM analysis also controls for

92

segment complexity, which is an important consideration due to the variations observed in segmental anatomy.

### CONCLUSION

Our study sought to describe the learning curve for a novel procedure involving NIF mapping during robot-assisted segmentectomy. CUSUM analysis indicates that the learning curve for NIF-guided robot-assisted segmentectomy can be overcome after 62 cases, after which point clinically important reductions in blood loss and operative time, as well as an increase in lymph node yield, is observed. As lung cancer screening becomes more widely adopted, and early-stage NSCLC comprises the majority of surgeon caseloads, the propensity to perform lungpreserving operations, such as segmentectomy will predominate. Surgical adjuncts such as NIF are enabled by the robotic surgical platform and may facilitate complex procedures such as segmentectomy. Thus, learning curve studies evaluating competency in the context of innovative surgical technologies will be an important part of monitoring patient safety and physician proficiency in the future.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Oizumi H, Kato H, Endoh M, Inoue T, Watarai H, Sadahiro M. Techniques to define segmental anatomy during segmentectomy. *Ann Cardiothorac Surg.* 2014;3(2):170-175.
- Keenan RJ, Landreneau RJ, Maley RH, Jr., et al. Segmental resection spares pulmonary function in patients with stage I lung cancer. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2004;78(1):228-233; discussion 228-233.
- 3. Gossot D, Seguin-Givelet A. Anatomical variations and pitfalls to know during thoracoscopic segmentectomies. *J Thorac Dis.* 2018;10(Suppl 10):S1134-S1144.
- Subotich D, Mandarich D, Milisavljevich M, Filipovich B, Nikolich V. Variations of pulmonary vessels: some practical implications for lung resections. *Clin Anat.* 2009;22(6):698-705.
- Handa Y, Tsutani Y, Mimae T, Tasaki T, Miyata Y, Okada M. Surgical Outcomes of Complex Versus Simple Segmentectomy for Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2019;107(4):1032-1039.
- Ginsberg RJ, Rubinstein LV. Randomized Trial of Lobectomy Versus Limited Resection for T1 N0 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 1995;60(3):615-623.
- Zhao X, Qian L, Luo Q, Huang J. Segmentectomy as a safe and equally effective surgical option under complete video-assisted thoracic surgery for patients of stage I non-small cell lung cancer. *J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2013;8:116.
- Bedetti B, Bertolaccini L, Rocco R, Schmidt J, Solli P, Scarci M. Segmentectomy versus lobectomy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Thorac Dis.* 2017;9(6):1615-1623.

- 9. Zhang Z, Feng H, Zhao H, et al. Sublobar resection is associated with better perioperative outcomes in elderly patients with clinical stage I non-small cell lung cancer: a multicenter retrospective cohort study. *Journal of thoracic disease*. 2019;11(5):1838-1848.
- Nakamura K, Saji H, Nakajima R, et al. A Phase III Randomized Trial of Lobectomy Versus Limited Resection for Small-sized Peripheral Non-small Cell Lung Cancer (JCOG0802/WJOG4607L). *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2009;40(3):271-274.
- Wolf AS, Richards WG, Jaklitsch MT, et al. Lobectomy Versus Sublobar Resection for Small (2 cm or Less) Non–Small Cell Lung Cancers. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2011;92(5):1819-1825.
- Abdellateef A, Ma X, Qiao W, et al. Subxiphoid uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic pulmonary segmentectomy: Effect of learning curve and future perspectives. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. 2020;58:I50-I57.
- Hamada A, Oizumi H, Kato H, et al. Learning curve for port-access thoracoscopic anatomic lung segmentectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2018;156(5):1995-2003.
- Le Gac C, Gonde H, Gillibert A, et al. Medico-economic impact of robot-assisted lung segmentectomy: what is the cost of the learning curve? *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*. 2020;30(2):255-262.
- Keating J, Singhal S. Novel Methods of Intraoperative Localization and Margin Assessment of Pulmonary Nodules. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2016;28(1):127-136.
- Mehta M, Patel YS, Yasufuku K, et al. Near-infrared mapping with indocyanine green is associated with an increase in oncological margin length in minimally invasive segmentectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2019.

- Pardolesi A, Veronesi G, Solli P, Spaggiari L. Use of indocyanine green to facilitate intersegmental plane identification during robotic anatomic segmentectomy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2014;148(2):737-738.
- Huang P, Ye B, Yang Y, Tantai JC, Zhao H. Experience with the "da Vinci" robotic system for early-stage thymomas: Report of 23 cases. *Thorac Cancer*. 2014;5(4):325-329.
- Ro CY, Derose JJ, Jr., Connery CP, Balaram SK, Ashton RC, Jr. Three-year experience with totally endoscopic robotic thymectomy. *Innovations (Philadelphia, Pa)*.
  2006;1(3):111-114.
- Kamel MK, Rahouma M, Stiles BM, Nasar A, Altorki NK, Port JL. Robotic Thymectomy: Learning Curve and Associated Perioperative Outcomes. *J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A*. 2017;27(7):685-690.
- 21. Fahim C, Hanna W, Waddell T, Shargall Y, Yasufuku K. Robotic-assisted thoracoscopic surgery for lung resection: the first Canadian series. *Can J Surg.* 2017;60(4):260-265.
- Cerfolio RJ, Bryant AS, Minnich DJ. Starting a robotic program in general thoracic surgery: why, how, and lessons learned. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2011;91(6):1729-1736; discussion 1736-1727.
- 23. Veronesi G, Agoglia BG, Melfi F, et al. Experience with robotic lobectomy for lung cancer. *Innovations (Philadelphia, Pa).* 2011;6(6):355-360.
- 24. Meyer M, Gharagozloo F, Tempesta B, Margolis M, Strother E, Christenson D. The learning curve of robotic lobectomy. *Int J Med Robot*. 2012;8(4):448-452.

- Toker A, Ozyurtkan MO, Kaba E, Ayalp K, Demirhan O, Uyumaz E. Robotic anatomic lung resections: the initial experience and description of learning in 102 cases. *Surg Endosc.* 2016;30(2):676-683.
- Gallagher SP, Abolhoda A, Kirkpatrick VE, Saffarzadeh AG, Thein MS, Wilson SE. Learning Curve of Robotic Lobectomy for Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer by a Thoracic Surgeon Adept in Open Lobectomy. *Innovations (Philadelphia, Pa)*. 2018;13(5):321-327.
- Zhang Y, Liu S, Han Y, Xiang J, Cerfolio RJ, Li H. Robotic Anatomical Segmentectomy: An Analysis of the Learning Curve. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2019;107(5):1515-1522.
- 28. Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineeting Research Council of Canada, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, December 2018. <u>http://www.pre.ethics.gc.ca/eng/documents/tcps2-2018-en-interactive-final.pdf</u>. Accessed October 9, 2020.
- 29. Food and Drug Administration. Indocyanine Green for Injection Data Safety Sheet. <u>https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2006/011525s017lbl.pdf</u>. Accessed October 10, 2020.
- Seely AJ, Ivanovic J, Threader J, et al. Systematic classification of morbidity and mortality after thoracic surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2010;90(3):936-942; discussion 942.
- 31. Goldstraw P, Crowley J, Chansky K, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for the revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM Classification of malignant tumours. *Journal of thoracic oncology*. 2007;2(8):706-714.

- 32. Oizumi H, Kanauchi N, Kato H, et al. Anatomic thoracoscopic pulmonary segmentectomy under 3-dimensional multidetector computed tomography simulation: a report of 52 consecutive cases. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2011;141(3):678-682.
- Cerfolio R, Louie BE, Farivar AS, Onaitis M, Park BJ. Consensus statement on definitions and nomenclature for robotic thoracic surgery. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2017;154(3):1065-1069.
- 34. Osanaiye P, Talabi C. On Some Non-Manufacturing Applications of Counted Data Cumulative Sum (Cusum) Control Chart Schemes. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series D (The Statistician)*. 1989;38(4):251-257.
- 35. Noyez L. Cumulative sum analysis: a simple and practical tool for monitoring and auditing clinical performance. 2014.
- Pardolesi A, Park B, Petrella F, Borri A, Gasparri R, Veronesi G. Robotic anatomic segmentectomy of the lung: technical aspects and initial results. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2012;94(3):929-934.
- Feczko AF, Wang H, Nishimura K, et al. Proficiency of Robotic Lobectomy Based on Prior Surgical Technique in The Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Database. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;108(4):1013-1020.
- Arnold BN, Thomas DC, Bhatnagar V, et al. Defining the learning curve in robot-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy. *Surgery (United States)*. 2019;165(2):450-454.
- Hanna WC, Fahim C, Patel P, Shargall Y, Waddell TK, Yasufuku K. Robotic pulmonary resection for lung cancer: Analysis of the learning curve in a novel surgical program. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*. 2015;10(9 SUPPL. 2):S561.

- 40. Mazzei M, Abbas AE. Why comprehensive adoption of robotic assisted thoracic surgery is ideal for both simple and complex lung resections. *J Thorac Dis.* 2020;12(2):70-81.
- Zhang Y, Liu S, Han Y, Xiang J, Cerfolio RJ, Li H. Robotic Anatomical Segmentectomy: An Analysis of the Learning Curve. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2019;107(5):1515-1522.
- 42. Cao C, Gupta S, Chandrakumar D, Tian DH, Black D, Yan TD. Meta-analysis of intentional sublobar resections versus lobectomy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer. *Ann Cardiothorac Surg.* 2014;3(2):134-141.
- 43. Winckelmans T, Decaluwe H, De Leyn P, Van Raemdonck D. Segmentectomy or lobectomy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2020;57(6):1051-1060.
- 44. Bao F, Ye P, Yang Y, et al. Segmentectomy or lobectomy for early stage lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2014;46(1):1-7.
- Fan J, Wang L, Jiang GN, Gao W. Sublobectomy versus lobectomy for stage I non-smallcell lung cancer, a meta-analysis of published studies. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2012;19(2):661-668.
- 46. Cao C, Manganas C, Ang SC, Yan TD. A systematic review and meta-analysis on pulmonary resections by robotic video-assisted thoracic surgery. *Ann Cardiothorac Surg.* 2012;1(1):3-10.
- 47. Stiles BM, Mao J, Harrison S, et al. Extent of lymphadenectomy is associated with oncological efficacy of sublobar resection for lung cancer </=2 cm. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*. 2019;157(6):2454-2465 e2451.
- 48. Steiner SH, Cook RJ, Farewell VT, Treasure T. Monitoring surgical performance using risk-adjusted cumulative sum charts. *Biostatistics*. 2000;1(4):441-452.

- 49. Novick RJ, Fox SA, Stitt LW, Forbes TL, Steiner S. Direct comparison of risk-adjusted and non-risk-adjusted CUSUM analyses of coronary artery bypass surgery outcomes. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2006;132(2):386-391.
- 50. Bedat B, Abdelnour-Berchtold E, Krueger T, et al. Impact of complex segmentectomies by video-assisted thoracic surgery on peri-operative outcomes. *J Thorac Dis*. 2019;11(10):4109-4118.

APPENDICES



Characteristics of Included Participants				
N = 177, unless otherwise stated	Total N = 177	ICG N = 106	Non-ICG N = 71	p-value
<u>Demographics</u>	67 02 (9 59)	67 91 (9 59)	65 92 (9 50)	0.122
Age in years, mean $(SD)$	76(42.04)	(07.01(0.30))	(0.30) 22 (46 48)	0.133
$\mathbf{RMI} = \mathbf{K} \alpha / m^2 = m_{00} \alpha (\mathbf{SD})$	70 (42.94)	43(40.37)	20 22 (7 21)	0.444
Smoking Status, n (%)	28.71 (0.71)	28.30 (0.29)	29.23 (7.31)	0.390
Ex-smoker	95 (53.67)	60 (56.60)	35 (49.30)	
Current Smoker	51 (28.81)	27 (25.47)	24 (33.80)	0.476
Never Smoked	31 (17.51)	19 (17.9)	12 (16.90)	
% Predicted FEV, mean (SD); N=171	87.06 (20.24)	87.89 (20.66)	85.78 (19.65)	0.506
% Predicted DLCO, mean (SD); N=165	76.96 (19.12)	76.99 (20.03)	76.92 (17.75)	0.982
Comorbidity, n (%)	167 (94.35)	100 (94.34)	67 (94.36)	1.00
Emphysema, n (%)	3 (1.69)	3 (2.83)	0 (0.00)	0.275
COPD, n (%)	53 (29.94)	32 (30.19)	21 (29.58)	1.00
Diabetes, n (%)	40 (22.60)	22 (20.75)	18 (25.35)	0.583
Disease Information				
Previous Cancer, n (%)	81 (45.76)	47 (44.34)	34 (47.89)	0.648
Disease Type, n (%); N=174	$N = 174^{\circ}$	N = 104	N = 70	0.389
Malignant	134 (77.01)	82 (78.85)	52 (74.29)	
Squamous	18 (10.34)	8 (7.69)	10 (14.29)	
Carcinoid	9 (5.17)	4 (3.85)	5 (7.14)	
Adenocarcinoma	98 (56.32)	65 (62.50)	33 (47.14)	0.100
Small cell	1 (0.57)	0 (0.00)	1 (1.43)	0.129
Large cell	1 (0.57)	0 (0.00)	1 (1.43)	
Other	7 (4.02)	5 (4.81)	2 (2.86)	
Benign	16 (9.20)	7 (6.73)	9 (12.86)	
Necrotizing Granuloma	4 (2.30)	1 (0.96)	3 (4.29)	0.205
Other	12 (6.90)	6 (5.77)	6 (8.57)	0.295
Metastasis	24 (13.79)	15 (14.42)	9 (12.86)	
Colon	12 (6.90)	10 (9.62)	2 (2.86)	
Renal	2 (1.15)	1 (0.96)	1 (1.43)	0.069
Other	10 (5.75)	4 (3.85)	6 (8.57)	
Pathological Stage, n (%); N=130	N = 130	N = 79	N = 51	
Stage I	75 (57.69)	51 (64.56)	24 (47.06)	
Stage II	48 (36.92)	24 (30.38)	24 (47.06)	0.064
Stage III-IV	7 (5.38)	4 (5.06)	3 (5.88)	
Tumour Size, mean (SD); N=148	1.70 (1.05)	1.98 (0.77)	2.01 (0.93)	0.799

# Appendix 2. Characteristics of Included Participant

Abbreviations: ICG, indocyanine green; SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index; FEV, forced expiratory volume; DLCO, diffusing capacity of lung for carbon monoxide; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

# Appendix 3. Surgical details of included Participants

Operative factors compared between ICG and non-ICG Patients				
N = 177, unless otherwise stated	Total $N = 177$	ICG  N = 106	Non-ICG N = 71	p-value
<u>Surgical Details</u> Operative Time, mean (SD)	127 10 (22 34)	132 34 (20 10)	110 27 (35 14)	0 000
Number of leverth up dec seven lad up dien (IOD)	127.10(32.34)	7.00 (5.00.0.00)	(119.27(33.44))	0.008
Complexity n (9()	/.00 (4.00-/.00)	7.00 (5.00-9.00)	0.00 (4.00-8.00)	0.008
Complexity, n (%)	95 (49.02)	<b>5</b> 1 (40 11)	24 (47.90)	
Simple	85 (48.02)	51 (48.11)	34 (47.89)	1.00
Complex	92 (51.98)	55 (51.89)	37 (52.11)	
Primary Lobe undergoing resection, n (%)	20(15.02)	17 (00.04)	11 (10 20)	
RUL	28 (15.82)	17 (23.94)	11 (10.38)	
RML	3 (1.69)	1 (1.41)	2 (1.89)	
RLL	49 (27.68)	35 (49.30)	14 (13.21)	0.193
LUL	61 (34.46)	31 (43.66)	30 (28.30)	
LLL	35 (19.77)	22 (30.99)	13 (12.26)	
Complications, n (%)	19 (10.73)	11 (15.49)	8 (7.55)	0.158
Conversion, n (%)	19 (10.73)	3 (2.83)	16 (22.54)	
Conversion to Open	18 (10.17)	2 (1.89)	16 (22.54)	-0.001
Conversion to VATS	1 (0.56)	1(1.41)	0 (0.00)	<0.001
Completion Lobectomy	30 (16.95)	7 (6.60)	23 (32.40)	<0.001
Additional lung surgery performed	55 (31.07)	26 (24.53)	29 (40.85)	0.031
		_ (	)	
Peri-Onerative Information				
Adverse Events n (%)	93 (52 54)	54 (50.94)	39(5493)	0 596
Length of Stay median (IOR)	3 00 (2 00 5 00)	3 00 (2 00.5 00)	3 00 (2 00-5 00)	0.390
Dlood Loss $>25$ mL $= n(9/2)$ : N=174	3.00(2.00-3.00)	5.00(2.00-3.00)	3.00(2.00-3.00)	0.494
Divou Luss $223$ IIIL, II (70); $N = 1/4$	107(01.49) 127(7(112.56))	01(39.22)	44(01.97) 151 27(125 70)	0.731
10tal Blood Loss**, mean (SD); N = 107	12/.0/(115.50)	111.19 (92.09)	131.27 (133.79)	0.093

Abbreviations: ICG, indocyanine green; SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; RUL, right upper lobe; RML, right middle lobe; RLL, right lower lobe; LUL, left upper lobe; LLL, left lower lobe; VATS, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery

\*Blood loss values were only collected for participants with  $\geq$ 25 mL of blood loss during surgery. The mean blood loss volume is calculated based only on those individuals.

# Appendix 4. Interphase Analysis between Learning Phases

Operative factors of Patients receiving ICG Segmentectomy between Phases				
N = 106, unless otherwise stated	Total N = 106	Phase 1 N = 62	Phase 2 N = 44	p-value
Operative Time, mean (SD)	132.34 (29.10)	139.35 (26.95)	122.45 (29.43)	0.003
Number of lymph nodes sampled, median (IQR); N=104	7.00 (5.00-9.00)	6.00 (4.00-6.00)	8.00 (6.00-8.00)	0.023
Complexity, n (%)				
Simple	51 (48.11)	33 (53.23)	18 (40.91)	0.240
Complex	55 (51.89)	29 (46.77)	26 (59.09)	0.240
Primary Lobe undergoing resection, n (%)				
RUL	17 (16.04)	3 (4.84)	14 (31.82)	
RML	1 (0.94)	0(0.00)	1 (2.27)	
RLL	35 (33.02)	23 (37.10)	12 (27.27)	0.002
LUL	31 (29.25)	21 (33.87)	10 (22.73)	
LLL	22 (20.75)	15 (24.19)	7 (15.91)	
Complications, n (%)	8 (7.55)	3 (4.84)	5 (11.36)	0.272
Conversion, n (%)	3 (2.83)	3 (4.84)	0 (0.00)	
Conversion to Open	2 (1.89)	2 (0.32)	0 (0.00)	0.265
Conversion to VATS	1 (0.94)	1 (0.16)	0 (0.00)	0.265
Completion Lobectomy	7 (6.60)	5 (8.06)	2 (4.55)	0.697
Additional lung surgery performed	26 (24.53)	12 (19.35)	14 (31.82)	0.172
Peri-Operative Information				
Adverse Events, n (%)	54 (50.94)	29 (46.77)	25 (56.82)	0.718
Length of Stay, median (IQR)	3.00 (2.00-5.00)	3.00 (2.00-5.00)	3.00 (2.00-5.00)	0.982
Blood Loss >25mL, n (%); N=103	61 (59.22)	20 (33.90)	41 (93.18)	<0.001
Total Blood Loss*, mean (SD); N = 61	111.19 (92.69)	127.73 (87.94)	102.32 (95.01)	0.007

Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; RUL, right upper lobe; RML, right middle lobe; RLL, right lower lobe; LUL, left upper lobe; LLL, left lower lobe; VATS, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery \*Blood loss values were only collected for participants with ≥25 mL of blood loss during surgery. The mean blood loss volume is calculated based only on those individuals.

# Appendix 5. Impact of Segment Complexity on Surgical and Peri-operative factors

Operative Factors of Patients Receiving ICG Segmentectomy based on Complexity				
N = 106, unless otherwise stated	Total N = 106	Simple $N = 51$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Complex} \\ \text{N} = 55 \end{array}$	p-value
<u>Surgical Details</u>	1, 100	1, 51	11 00	
Operative time, mean (SD)	132.34 (29.10)	121.49 (28.13)	142.4 (26.44)	<0.001
Number of lymph nodes sampled, median (IQR); N= 104	7.00 (3.30)	6.00 (4.00-8.00)	8.00 (6.00-10.50)	0.004
Complications, n (%)	8 (7.55)	5 (9.80)	3 (5.45)	0.477
Primary Lobe undergoing resection, n (%)				
RUL	17 (16.04)	0 (0.00)	17 (30.91)	
RML	1 (0.94)	1 (1.96)	0 (0.00)	
RLL	35 (33.02)	20 (39.22)	15 (27.27)	<0.001
LUL	31 (29.25)	21 (41.18)	10 (18.18)	
LLL	22 (20.75)	9 (17.65)	13 (23.64)	
Conversion, n (%)	3 (2.83)	3 (5.88)	0 (0.00)	
Conversion to Open	2 (1.89)	2 (3.92)	0 (0.00)	0.100
Conversion to VATS	1 (0.94)	1 (1.96)	0 (0.00)	0.108
Completion Lobectomy	7 (6.60)	4 (7.84)	3 (5.45)	0.709
Additional lung surgery performed	26 (24.53)	11 (21.57)	15 (27.27)	0.509
Peri-Operative Information				
Adverse Events, n (%)	54 (50.94)	25 (49.02)	29 (2.73)	1.00
Length of Stay, median (IQR)	3.00 (2.00-5.00)	3.00 (2.00-5.00)	3.00 (2.00-5.00)	0.886
Blood Loss >25mL, (n) %; $N = 103$	61 (59.22)	27 (56.25)	34 (61.82)	0.688
Total Blood Loss*, mean (SD); N = 61	68.01 (90.48)	52.71 (68.42)	81.36 (104.88)	0.109

Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; RUL, right upper lobe; RML, right middle lobe; RLL, right lower lobe; LUL, left upper lobe; LLL, left lower lobe; VATS, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery \*Blood loss values were only collected for participants with ≥25 mL of blood loss during surgery. The mean blood loss volume is calculated based only on those individuals.